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Definitions

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

(AR K [EBERAA

“Audit Committee”
[EZLEg ]

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

-

“BVI
[RBRZES ]

"CEO"
[TTER A&k ]

“CG Code”
[ ERTAI

“China” or “PRC"
[ B

“Company”

EAYNCIN

“Compliance Committee”

[ARZEg]

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ B R

“Director(s)”

[E%]

RAFERT - RXESBEN - BRIAT
ARABATRE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company, adopted on 7 September
2020 and took effect on the Listing Date, and as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modiﬁed from time to time

ARARZZE_ZFNA+ERARN LT EHREBNLETREST BB EIZMA
El (,Z«‘Tﬂﬂ Bl FRBARAM T A E )

the audit committee of the Board

ExeEn%Ee

the board of Directors

R

the British Virgin Islands
EEELHS

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRRITHABE

the “Corporate Governance Code” set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

ER RIS+ TS [ EE AT

the People’s Republic of China, which excludes, for the purpose of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

mEARANE ERAFRHE - TREFE  RFIKAE

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (X 1£ & [ 12 i & fR 2 &), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 31 May 2019 under
the Companies Law of The Coymon Islands

REEEZERERAR  —HEBFAEHEATER-ZE—NEFRLA=T—AER
xﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂﬁ¢%ﬁé%e%*ﬁﬂﬁ@ﬂ

the compliance committee of the Board
ExgaR%ES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, unless the context requires
otherwise, collectively refers to Sky Mission and Mr. Leung Yam Cheung, who, together,
controls the exercise of 30% or more of the voting power at general meetings of the
Company

AEBELFTRAETZANRERRXESAMEIN RRERREFEE (REH
RIRARRRRRARE EZHITT630% 3k A R ERE) g iE

the director(s) of the Company

RRABE=R
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“ESG”
[ESG

“ESG Committee”
[ESGZE =

"FY2020”
[—E-_FHHRFE

“FY2021"
[—ZE - —FHHRFE]

“Group”, “our Group”, “we” or “us”

(A& B ok [ 5P

“HK$" or “Hong Kong dollar(s)" or
“HKD” and “cent(s)’

[P R[]

“Kennex”

Bl

“Listing”

[ 7]
“Listing Date”
[T HE]
“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR A
“Model Code”
RSP ]

“Nomination Committee”

fRBZEg]

“Prospectus”

[HEkER]

Definitions

Environmental, Social and Governance
RE-HENER

the ESG committee of the Board

EESISCEES

the financial year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T_TF=A=1+—RHILMBFE

the financial year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEHBFE

the Company and its subsidiaries

AR REKB AR
Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
DRl BEEETEEE AT RAN

Kennex Scaffolding Systems Co., Limited (& /134 K &t AR 2 7l), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 23 March 2015 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Compony
BOABRESMEAERRE —MRZZ2-—AF=ZA-+=AEEFETMEALHERRD
AR RN R iéfﬁﬁﬁ_é@ﬂ

the listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on the Listing
Date
BRADABCE R AFREEN AR LB BEBRRMM LD

29 September 2020, the date of listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

TECEFAASTAR  ROEBRMAER T A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
Bt X Prag 2 b AR Bl (IS ANRHERT - ST sl A H At 75 A& 240

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHARBIM ST TR BEITAESETESRXSNE LT

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeRA%Ee

prospedus of the Compony dated 15 September 2020

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Definitions

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FHEE S

“SFO”

(787 M ' 150

“Share(s)’

(Rt ]

“Shareholder(s)”

[ARER ]
“Sky Mission”

[RIE]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B <2 FfT )

“Temmex”

[R%]

“Temmex Brothers”

[RELE]

vop
(%]

the remuneration committee of the Board
EESHFNEES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREDNESNEZ 5 LEEGD - K TEERT - R sAH A7 g2k

the ordinary sharels) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
AR AR FREE0.0178 T i) E @A

the holderl(s) of the Shares
&R A

Sky Mission Group Limited (X F#% % B PR 2 A1), a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability on 12 February 2019 and wholly owned by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung
REZEBRBERAR  — AR E-NWEF_A+_BERBREZHSHTMAIHAR
NE . UHRRERFRETERSR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMARHMAERAF

Temmex Engineering Limited (X3 T 25 R A &), a company incorporated in Hong Kong
on 21 October 1998 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

REIREBRRAF  —HR—NANANEFTAZT—BEEEIMAINBR AR R
BAEARNGMEZ2ENRB AR

Temmex Brothers Engineering Limited ( X 2& 7. 25 T2 5 BR A7), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong on 9 October 2008 with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company

RERFIRERDAR]  —HRZZEZENFTANBEEBTMEINBR AR R
RARNAEEEENB QA

per cent.
At
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Chairman’s Statement
TREHRE

On behalf of the Board, | am glad to present the annual results of the Group for
FY2021 to our Shareholders.

REVIEW

During the review period, our Group revenue has increased by 22.9%, from
approximately HK$434.6 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$534.3 million
for FY2021. The increase is mainly attributable to the net effect on decrease in
revenue of approximately HK$123.4 million recognised from the Project TMB-84
which was completed during FY2020 and the increase in revenue recognised
from new Projects TMB-94, TMB-100, TMB-101, TMB-102 and TMB-105, which
altogether contributed approximately HK$216.3 million to the total revenue for
FY2021.

Our Group has recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$71.9 million for
FY2021, representing a decrease of approximately HK$7.3 million or 9.2% from
approximately HK$79.2 million for FY2020. The decrease in gross profit was
mainly resulted from the intensively competitive environment in the formwork
subcontracting market and more new construction materials were purchased to
meet different project needs.

Basic earning per share attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK4.32 cents for FY2021, and approximately HK3.17 cents for
FY2020.

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, we expect the competition in the formwork subcontracting
market will continue to intensify, challenges in the costs of workers, construction
materials and subcontracting fees still afflict our formwork industry. To master
such adverse factors, our Group will continuously diversify the extent of various
types of construction projects and the client base to minimise the market risk.

Simultaneously, the Board will consider seeking construction professionals’
advice in sourcing and employing applicable Building Information Modelling to
smooth our construction works to lower the construction costs resulted from more
efficiencies and effectiveness of our resources allocations.

The Board will also consider expanding our business and source of income,

including without limitation, to industries of still-fixing and concreting. Our Group
has not made any solid plan or proposal of such expansion as at the date hereof.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21

AARKREZEMARNRREZAKE =
T —FUBRFEZEFEE -

Gl

REESE AEERAB-Z_=FH
BREEH434.6BEBTEMN2029%E—F
T UBEEZHS4IEEB LI
FTEARKREZZTE_ZEFHBFETKD
T8 B TMB-84 FT FER I UL AR 2 #9123 4 B &
T Nk B #7178 B TMB-94 ~ 18 B TMB-100
18 B TMB-101 * 8 B TMB-102 & 8 B TMB-105
(GHAMZZE_—FUBFENBKRATR
#9216, 3 A B TT) FTiER AU A N8 F 52
ZERTEL o

AEEBR T —FHPRFEHESEND
NOEEBT RS -_SFHREFEY
2EEBTRAN7IIEES THI2% -
FARMLTDEBREBIRD BHIHRE
FHUARREBZ THEEM SRR
FIEEHK -

RZBEZ—FPRFE  NRAAE AEMN
FRERBMOEA2BN  M_E-FF
BIRFEEAAE317E -

VS

Al =

plil

REARR - LA RIR D BHEOE T
FEME  TARA - ZEMH RN BER
ERBANGRBERTE - REHEHET
MAZ  AEBEETEZ TS RERAR
REFE  UWHMERAREERE -

A EXQRERSRERBERZALNE
RoOREEQEMNBEEMRL  UBEL
BPEETRF  REERDEH SR
@ FREARR AR -

EFEMEERIMRESMIBEARARR -
BREETRN RSB INE MR R+
BERITENERD -RAREAH > AEEH
AMELEBELNIMREH IR -



APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
wholehearted appreciation fo our management team and staff members for their
dedications and value they bring to the Group. Also, | am pleased to express
my constant gratitude to all our Shareholders, clients, suppliers, subcontractors
and business partners for their steady trusts and persistent supports, and to the
growth of our Group.

We will try our every best to overcome all such coming challenges by our team
efforts and to achieve a better success in the years ahead.

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021

Chairman’s Statement
FERS
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K& AANBRREZE  BUBEHER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEwm RO

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECT

The Group is an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong Kong with
an operating history of over 20 years. During the year ended 31 March 2021 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Group has been providing traditional
formwork works services to its customers by using timber and plywood and
system formwork works services using aluminum formwork.

During FY2021, the Group secured 14 new contracts with total original
contract value of approximately HK$681.9 million, representing an increase of
approximately 18.2% compared to FY2020 of approximately HK$577.0 million.
12 of these projects started contributing revenue to the Group during FY2021,
out of which one project was completed. As at 31 March 2021, the Group has a
total of 19 projects on hand with an estimated total outstanding contract value
of approximately HK$526.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
39.0% as compared to the estimated total outstanding contract value of
approximately HK$378.4 million as at 31 March 2020. With 19 projects on hand,
it is expected that our business performance will remain steady for the coming
years.

Looking ahead, as an established formwork works subcontractor in Hong
Kong, the Group will continue to explore new business opportunities, further
diversify and broaden revenue sources of the Group from various customers,
maximise profits and returns for the Group and enhance shareholder value for
our Shareholders. The Group will strengthen its market position by enhancing
its financial position for securing more large-scale formworks projects
and expanding its capability to offer system formwork works services and
strengthening its manpower o cope with its business development. The Group is
confident that its business will continue to operate in a stable way.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For FY2021, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$534.3 million,
representing an increase of 22.9% comparing with that of approximately
HK$434.6 million for FY2020. The increase is mainly attributable to the net
effect on decrease in revenue of approximately HK$123.4 million recognised
from Project TMB-84 which was completed during FY2020 and the increase in
revenue recognised from new Projects TMB-94, TMB-100, TMB-101, TMB-102 and
TMB-105, which altogether contributed approximately HK$216.3 million to the total
revenue for FY2021. Set out below is the revenue breakdown of the Group derived
from public sector projects and private sector projects for FY2021 and FY2020:

BEERWR DT

Bt %5 (o R
LON

RZEZ—FHHRFE  AEEHFSRALD
533BEBET BR-ZE_ZEFFHRFEN
#)434.6 B & BTG NN22.9% - AT E E A
RRE-E-_EFFRFEETKAIEE
TMB-84 FTFER K WA B A 491234 B B E T
N2 2k B %78 B TMB-94 + T8 B TMB-100 « 18 B
TMB-101 * I8 B TMB-102 52 78 B TMB-105 #& 52
MBA (BRI T —FHPRFELEKA
HENA2163 B BB N FRZERE -

TYXHINAEBR T - —FHRFEEN
ZEEFUBRFEREAENMHEE &
FLEEPIIE B MU ARRAR ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=t—-HLEFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
No. of Percentage of No. of Percentage of
projects Revenue revenue projects Revenue revenue
ERA HWA
HEHEE A Bat HEHE WA B
HK$000 (%) HK$000 (%)
FET (%) T8 (%)
Public secfor projects NEEPIIE B 19 334,828 62.7 14 202,798 46.7
Private sector projects  FL=&FFIIE E 18 199,452 37.3 23 231,826 53.3
Total BEt 37 534,280 100.0 37 434,624 100.0
Gross profit and gross profit margin EFMREME

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$7.3 million or 9.2% from
approximately HK$79.2 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$71.9 million for
FY2021.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from approximately 18.2% for FY2020
to approximately 13.5% for FY2021.

The decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin were mainly resulted from
the increase in price competition for new formwork works contract in the industry
and more new construction materials were purchased to meet different project
needs.

AEBNENHR-_FT_ZFTFHHRFED
W792BBETRDHTIIEEBTTHI2%
ER T —FHREENONIBSET

AEENEFNERR S _ZFHHFE
B2 ML ER S —FHRFEN
#913.5%

EMREFEFKDTIEBHNFRAHER

TRANZEBBSF MBI RRBEZ 2
VA & N E)IR B B SKATE

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE R D

Other income

The Group’s other income mainly comprised of subsidy income and other
miscellaneous income. Other income increased by approximately HK$21.2 million
or 70.7 times from approximately HK$0.3 million for FY2020 to approximately
HK$21.5 million for FY2021. The increase was mainly attributable to the receipt
of anti-epidemic fund for approximately HK$21.3 million (the “"Employment
Support Scheme” and “Employment Support Scheme for the Construction Sector
(Casual Employees)”) provided by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other operating expenses increased
from approximately HK$12.3 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$17.3 million
for FY2021, representing an increase of approximately 40.7%. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in audit fee, legal and professional fee,
consultancy fee and staff costs for FY2021.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased from approximately HK$0.2 million for
FY2020 to approximately HK$0.5 million for FY2021 which was mainly attributable
to an increase in interest expense on interest-bearing borrowings to finance the
Group's working capital during FY2021.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased from approximately HK$10.9 million
for FY2020 to approximately HK$9.3 million for FY2021, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1.6 million or 14.7%. The decrease was mainly attributable to
a decrease in assessable profits of the Group during FY2021.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to owners of the Company
increased by approximately HK$22.6 million or 59.5% from approximately
HK$38.0 million for FY2020 compared to approximately HK$60.6 million for
FY2021.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for FY2021
(FY2020: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group principally finances its operations from its business operations,
interest-bearing borrowings and equity contribution from its Shareholders. As
at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$286.2
million (2020: HK$157.3 million) and cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$56.7 million (2020: HK$43.9 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$331.4 million (2020: HK$163.7 million),
and the Group’s total interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$43.7 million which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
(2020: HK$16.7 million).

The Directors have confirmed that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of 31 March 2021 and accordingly, our consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 29 September 2020, the Group’s Shares were successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. There has been no change in the capital structure of
the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprised of ordinary
shares.

BEERWR DT

ARTHEEABERFEEZFIRZEI
A

R RISCRTIL - AN AR A ARG REF AR
CTECEFPRFENLI80E BTN
%226 A EBILH595E RN T — —F8
BEENL606EEBTT

REIRE

EEeERTRN S —FUVBEFEN
REBRE (T _ZTFPHRFE  £) -

RBEERMBER

AEBETEZEEKEE  TEERRRER
BIEAELBRHEES RS _—F=
A=+—B AEEMNEHEEFEAD
2862 HBEBT(ZE-FF 1573@EHT)
NERERIBITEBAHSTEES T (=
ToTF A39FEHETT) o

WZZE-—F=A=+—8 KARQFH#EAA
JERAREEEERZAHBLEELEL (T
—EF137EEET) AAEBE B TE
ENRTEERLEEABANMTEESE
T(CE-TFE  6TEEBT) -

EFEHRR - AREBERRMBERME
HE-Z-_—F=A=+—HRBFZEDIRX
K+ —ERRMEMNZEE  BRMANKS
MBBRROEBFELEEERE -

BARRE
R-ZZ-ZBEAA-TAB  AEEBRHMK

DB FAERLET - Bt - AEBEHEAR
RENEES AEENRNMEBELTER -

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE R D

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of total interest-
bearing borrowings divided by total equity of the Group) was approximately 12.7%
(2020: 9.2%).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group had no charges on assets as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Company does not have significant exposure on foreign currency risk as most
of the monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The management will consider suitable hedging instruments against significant
currency exposure should the need arises.

THE RISK ON THE OPERATION AFFECTED BY THE COVID-19
PANDEMIC

If the development of COVID-19 intensifies, the economy in Hong Kong may be
adversely affected. In such event, the resultant unfavourable economic conditions
of Hong Kong, dampened market sentiment and decreased purchasing power
of the general public could be a disincentive for property developers or other
ultimate customers to commence new construction projects, thus delaying or
reducing the number of new projects to be awarded to us.

Health and safety risks during the outbreak of COVID-19 may also lead to
labour shortage, increase in construction costs, and interruption of our business
operation. If any personnel working in the project site has been confirmed positive
for COVID-19, the relevant main contractor(s), property developer(s) or ultimate
customer(s) of our projects may be required to suspend the works in the relevant
project site for at least 14 days or longer subject to government requirements.
Stringent rules imposed on construction workers, including frequent mandatory
testing and limitations on on-site activities, may reduce the supply of skilled
labour, increase in wages of the workers, and delay in our work schedules. Some
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Management Discussion and Analysis

construction workers may not report duty immediately after vaccination due to
side effects from vaccination of the COVID-19 vaccines. The wages of workers
may therefore be increased and thus the construction costs if we face any labour
shortage or if we need urgent replacements. Progress of such projects may be
delayed and our business operations would be interrupted.

These adverse impacts, if materialise and persist for a substantial period, may
adversely affect our business operation and financial performance.

The Company will continue to monitor the development of COVID-19 pandemic.
We are confident that we are able to weather through the pandemic crisis.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s right-of-use assets of approximately HK$1.5
million (2020: approximately HK$1.6 million) were included in the property, plant
and equipment, and its lease liabilities were approximately HK$1.6 million (2020:
approximately HK$1.6 million). The related right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are all located in Hong Kong.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group continues to follow a prudent policy in managing the Group’s cash
and maintaining a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well
placed fo take advantage of any future growth opportunities. To manage liquidity
risk, the Directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can
meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally operates in one business segment, which is providing
formwork works services in Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENW RO

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During FY2021 and FY2020, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During FY2021 and FY2020, the Group had no significant investment held.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Company’s announcement dated 28
September 2020, the Group does not have other plans for material investments
and capital assets.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting the underwriting fees and
other related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the Share Offer)
which amounted to approximately HK$81.1 million was used/will be used for the
infended purposes as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 28
September 2020. The Group adjusted the allocation of the use of net proceeds
for the below purposes on a pro rata basis in the same manner as shown in the
Prospectus.
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The below table sets out the use of net proceeds, the unutilised net proceeds and
the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds from the Listing up

to 31 March 2021:

Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR EC S il

=

=K

=+—8m

TR ELTREE-T-_—F=AH
HFENAE  RBAME

REFENMPDARPAMBRBFENE

HRRFR -

Actual use of
net proceeds

Expected timeline

upto Unutilised  for utilising for
Planned use of 31March  balance asat  unutilised net
net proceeds in total 2021  31march 2021  proceeds
BEZE
—EZ-F i
=A=t-H —E--F
FREME Z=ZA=+—-H BRAXHA
BHFBHEEEN FEER MARBA FEREFH
HE AR BERAR e TR
HK$ million % HK$ million HKS$ million
BEEE % B&EEr B&Er
Enhancing the Group’s financial position for the 493 60.8 38.7 10.6 By 31 March 2022
purpose of securing additional and large-scale
formwork works projects and expanding its
capability to offer system formwork work services
BEASENTBRR  UBRESEZHX —EZZFZ=H
BERTIZER @ WRAHRHEZFERT =t—HA
RIR%EEE 1
Increasing the Group’s stock of metal scaffold 175 21.6 17.5 - N/A
equipment and related parts
BENASENEBRERE BTN ER TEHR
Further strengthening the Group’s manpower to 7.3 9.0 1.6 5.7 By 31 March 2022
cope with its business development
- B AEEN AN AR —Z--fZR
EBER =+t—HA
General working capital of the Group 7.0 8.6 7.0 - N/A
AEBEN-—REEED TER
Total 811 100.0 64.8 16.3
et
The unutilised proceeds has been deposited in the bank accounts with licensed KR E)AFS KRBT A BB FIEBITHIR
banks in Hong Kong. T8RP -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B fE 5w R D AT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 1,161 employees. The Group continues
to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with
adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual's performance and experience. On top
of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant events requiring disclosure that have
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (formerly known as Leung Wah Fei (2 Z£ 7)) ("Mr. Leung/
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung’), aged 63, is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated
as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 4 November
2019. He is also a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall development strategies and business plans, and overseeing the general
management and daily operations of the Group. Mr. Leung has been serving as
a director of all the operating subsidiaries, including Temmex, Temmex Brothers
and Kennex, since December 1998, October 2008, and March 2015, respectively.

Mr. Leung commenced working as a formwork works apprentice and has gained
extensive working experience. Eventually, he started carrying out the business of
the Group through Temmex, Temmex Brothers and Kennex.

Mr. Leung aftended primary school in Shenzhen, China.

Mr. Leung is the father of two executive Directors, Mr. Leung Wing Hoi and Mr.
Leung Wing Chun.

He is the sole director and sole shareholder of Sky Mission, which directly holds
75% of the Shares, as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares and Underlying Shares” section of the Directors’ Report.

Mr. Cheung Kit Hung

Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 45, is an executive Director and
the CEO. He was appointed as a Director and the CEO and re-designated as
an executive Director on 4 November 2019. He is also the chairman of the
Compliance Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheung is primarily responsible for overseeing
the sales, quantity surveying and the client communication functions of the Group.

Mr. Cheung first joined the Group as a quantity surveyor of Temmex since July
2001. He has further been appointed as an operation manager of each of
Temmex Brothers since April 2006 and Kennex since March 2015. Mr. Cheung
has also been serving as a director at each of Temmex since October 2010 and
Temmex Brothers since July 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREAEEENEREES

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung accumulated over three years of
experience in the sales of construction equipment in Hong Kong. In this regard,
he worked at Advance Equipment Services (Hong Kong) Limited as a sales
representative from September 1997 to February 2000, a company principally
engaged in the design, manufacture and erection of steel scaffolding. Mr.
Cheung then worked as a sales supervisor at RMD Hong Kong Limited (renamed
as RMD Kwikform Hong Kong Limited in November 2000) from April 2000 to
July 2001, a company principally engaged in the provision of formwork works,
falsework and shoring solutions to the global construction industry.

Mr. Cheung obtained a certificate of completion in the general course for
clerks of works from the Hong Kong College of Technology in June 2002. Mr.
Cheung passed the examination in the training course on safety management
for managers and obtained a certificate of completion from the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in September 2002. Mr. Cheung further obtained his Higher
Certificate in Building Studies (part-time] from The Vocational Training Council of
the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in Hong Kong in July 2004.

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi ["Mr. WH Leung”), aged 40, is an executive Director. He
was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an executive Director on 4
November 2019. He is also a member of ESG Committee. Mr. WH Leung is mainly
responsible for overseeing the computer and system design functions of the
Group.

Mr. WH Leung first joined the Group as an operation manager of each of Temmex
and Temmex Brothers in November 2017, worked until March 2018, and has then
rejoined the Group with the same positions since November 2018.

Mr. WH Leung has over 15 years of experience in the digital media and
information technology industry. In this regard, Mr. WH Leung began his career
as a junior designer at iConcept Design & Multimedia Co. Limited from June 2004
to August 2004 and i010.com (International) Limited from August 2004 to August
2005. Mr. WH Leung later worked at PacificLink iMedia Limited from October 2006
to July 2015, with his last position being an associate creative director. Mr. WH
Leung also enjoyed a short stint at Pixo Punch Limited as a creative director from
July 2015 to March 2016. Mr. WH Leung served as a creative director of each of
Accenture Plc from April 2016 to November 2017 and As One Interactive Limited
from April 2018 to April 2019.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. WH Leung obtained his bachelor of arts degree (visual communication)
maijoring in digital media from the KvB Institute of Technology (now known as the
Raffles College of Design and Commerce) in Australia in July 2005.

Mr. WH Leung is a son of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung and an elder brother of Mr.
Leung Wing Chun. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director and Mr. Leung Wing Chun is an executive Director.

Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Mr. Leung Wing Chun ("Mr. WC Leung”), aged 36, is an executive Director. He
was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an executive Director on 4
November 2019. He is also a member of the Compliance Committee. Mr. WC
Leung is mainly responsible for overseeing the overall project management and
the operations of the business of the Group.

Mr. WC Leung underwent his apprenticeship as a personal assistant to Mr. Leung
Yam Cheung from July 2002 to May 2013. Mr. WC Leung then joined the Group as
a project manager of Temmex since June 2013, and is primarily responsible for
overseeing and supervising various projects of Temmex and acts as the key point
of contact at work sites. After four years of training as a project manager, he was
promoted and has been a director of Temmex Brothers since July 2017.

Mr. WC Leung obtained his Certificate of Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry)
issued by Origin Production Limited trading as The Hong Kong Safety Training
Association in April 2007.

Mr. WC Leung is a son of Mr. Leung Yam Cheung and a younger brother of Mr.
WH Leung. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director and Mr. WH Leung is an executive Director.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang (formerly known as Yau Ngan Fei (BB i 7)) ("Mr. Yau”),
aged 47, is a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a Director and re-
designated as a non-executive Director on 4 November 2019. Mr. Yau is mainly
responsible for providing strategic advice to the Broad.

Mr. Yau has gained over 13 years of experience in audit, tax, accounting and
company secrefarial matters. In this regard, he worked as an audit clerk at Simon
Choy & Co. from May 2009 to March 2013 and a senior audit manager at W.H.
Shum & Co. from November 2017 to November 2018. He is a shareholder (who
owns as to 50%) and since June 2007 has been a director of Charmway Strategic
Limited (formerly known as Global Prospect Limited) which was the former
corporate secretary of each of (i) Temmex from October 2010 to August 2018; (ii)
Temmex Brothers from October 2008 to August 2018; and (i) Kennex from March
2015 to January 2019). Mr. Yau has been the sole director of Harold Accounting
Services Limited since April 2016.

Mr. Yau obtained his bachelor of arts degree in translation from the Lingnan
College Hong Kong (now known as the Lingnan University) in November 1997,
and his master of science degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance from the City University of Hong Kong in February 2009. Mr. Yau has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
October 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Ng Lin Fung ("Mr. Ng"), aged 80, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision of independent
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ng has over 50 years of experience in the banking and finance industry in
Hong Kong. He worked at Nanyang Commercial Bank in Hong Kong from 1965
t0 1999, with his last position being a deputy general manager. Mr. Ng has been
the chairman of International Po Fung Finance Holdings Limited since 1999.

Mr. Ng has held and currently holds advisory positions in various institutions. In
this regard, he (i) was the Hong Kong affairs adviser to each of the Hong Kong
and Macao Affairs Office of the State Council and Xinhua News Agency (Hong
Kong Branch) on Hong Kong affairs between 1995 to 1997; (i) was a committee
member of each of the 6th, 7th and 8th of the Fujian Province Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference between 1992 to 2001;
(iii) has been a member of the Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the National People’s Congress since 1998; (iv) was
the president and has been an honorary president of the Hong Kong Chinese
Importers’ & Exporters’ Association from 1995 to 1998 and since 1999, respectively;
(v) was a committee member and has been an honorary committee member of
The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong from 1999 to 2014 and
since 2015, respectively; and (vi) has been the president of The Hong Kong Chi
Tung Association Limited since 2017.

Mr. Ng attended the Beijing Institute of Physical Education (now known as the
Beijing Sport University), majoring in physical education theory, from 1961 to 1962.
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Mr. Lam Kwong Siu

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (“Mr. Lam”), aged 87, is an independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director and re-designated as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 November 2019. He is also the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision of
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Lam has over 16 years of experience in the banking sector in Hong Kong. In
this regard, he has been a non-executive director of Bank of China International
Limited (formerly known as BOCI Capital Limited) since July 2002 and the vice
chairman of BOC International Holdings Limited since October 2001.

Mr. Lam has been an independent non-executive director of each of (i) Fujian
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 181) since December 2003; (i) Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 868) since August
2004; (iii) Yuzhou Properties Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1628) since October 2009; and (iv) Far
East Consortium International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 35) since September 2011. Mr. Lam was also
an independent non-executive director of CITIC International Financial Holdings
Limited, a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 183) from September 1996 to November 2008, Vico International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1621) from January 2018 to April 2019, and China Overseas Land & Investment
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
688) from September 2003 to June 2020.

Mr. Lam was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) in 2003 and the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2016 by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. Mr. Lam was also a deputy of the 10th National People’s
Congress from 2003 to 2008, and has been the honorary chairman of the Hong
Kong Federation of Fujian Associations Limited since 2009, the life honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce since 2011, the vice
chairman of the Fujian Hong Kong Economic Co-operation since 2007, the life
honorary chairman of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce since 2008,
an adviser to the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association since 2008 and the
honorary president of The Chinese Bankers Club of Hong Kong since 1992.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Chu Hau Lim (“Mr. Chu”), aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of each of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Compliance Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision of
independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chu has over 29 years of experience in professional auditing, consulting,
corporate accounting and financial management. In this regard, Mr. Chu worked
at Byrne & Co. from October 1988 to March 1990, with his last position being an
audit semi-senior. Mr. Chu then worked at Fan, Mitchell & Co. from July 1992 to
May 1996, with his last position being a senior audit manager. From October
1996 to February 2006, Mr. Chu worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last
position being a senior manager of the assurance division. Mr. Chu also worked
as the chief financial officer of Agile Property Holdings Limited (now known as
Agile Group Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 3383) from July 2006 to January 2011 and G.T. Land
Holdings Limited from February 2011 o March 2012. Mr. Chu was an executive
director and the chief financial officer of Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 337)
(formerly known as SPG Land (Holdings) Limited) from April 2012 to October
2012. Mr. Chu was an executive director of SQ Technology Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Taipei Exchange (stock code: 3219) from October 2015 fo
October 2016. Mr. Chu was the chief financial officer from October 2016 to August
2018, the company secretary as well as an authorised representative, both
from February 2017 to July 2018, of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1991). He was an
independent non-executive director of Power Financial Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 397) from September
2017 to April 2020. He was the chief financial officer of TFG International Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
542) from September 2018 to April 2021.
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EEREAEEENEREES

Mr. Chu obtained his master of business administration (MBA) degree at the
Heriot-Watt University in the United Kingdom in July 1997. Mr. Chu has been
a member of the HKICPA since January 1991, and was an associate of The
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (now known as the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants) from October 1990 to October 1995, and has
then been a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants since
October 1995.

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond (“Mr. Leung KH"), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 7 September 2020. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee. He is responsible for the supervision and provision of
independent judgment to the Board.

Mr. Leung KH has over 32 years of experience in the construction industry and
possesses extensive knowledge in planning and managing construction projects
of various nature. Mr. Leung KH is currently an executive director, the chairman
and the chief executive officer of Chi Ho Development Holdings Limited, a
company principally engaged in renovation, maintenance, alteration and addition
works and fitting-out works services in Hong Kong, and a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8423).

Mr. Leung KH worked initially as a trainee quantity surveyor and was promoted to
assistant quantity surveyor in Shui On Building Contractors Limited from January
1989 to June 1990. He was then employed as an assistant quantity surveyor and
was promoted to quantity surveyor from June 1990 to September 1991 in Maeda
Corporation where his duties included quantity surveying works, tendering works
and civil engineering measurement works. From August 1992 to September 1993,
he was employed by Wecon Limited initially as an assistant site agent and was
promoted to site agent. From November 1994 to March 1996, he joined Laws
Real Estate Agency Limited as an assistant project manager where he took lead
of building development, ongoing maintenance, re-fitting-out and renovation
projects from the conceptual design to implementation. For the period from July
1996 to September 1998, Mr. Leung KH worked initially as a project manager
and was promoted to contracts manager in Wang On Construction Company
Limited where his responsibilities included, among other things, taking up
project management, monitoring site progress and contfrol and coordination
among subcontractors. He then joined Tat Hing Construction Company Limited
in September 1998 as a director and resigned in April 2002. From August 1998
to August 2002, Mr. Leung KH also joined Lee Shing Yue Construction Company
Limited initially as a project manager and was then elected as a technical director
where his duties included, among others, overall contract administration and
project management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Leung KH obtained his higher diploma in building from City Polytechnic of
Hong Kong (currently known as the City University of Hong Kong) in November
1991 and a bachelor’s degree of science in building from the South Bank University
in the United Kingdom in June 1992. Mr. Leung KH obtained his master's degree
of science in architecture from the University College London in the United
Kingdom in March 1995.

Mr. Leung KH has been a member of Australian Institute of Building since March
2001, a member of the Chartered Institute of Building since July 2002, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers (previously known as Hong
Kong Institute of Builders) since April 2007, and a member of the Contractor's
Authorised Signatory Association Limited since December 2008. Mr. Leung KH
had served in Government body. For the period from January 2011 to December
2012, Mr. Leung KH was appointed by the Building Authority as a member of
Minor Works Contractors Registration Committee Panel.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Chung Chun Piu

Mr. Chung Chun Piu ("Mr. Chung”), aged 66, is a project manager of the Group.
He is mainly responsible for overseeing and monitoring projects, operations, on-
site staff training as well as the supervision of employees’ overall on-site safety,
and for providing advice to the Company’s project tendering team during the
tender process including formwork designs and quality control matters of the
Group’s projects.

Mr. Chung joined the Group as a project manager and a director of Temmex
since December 1998. He also was a director of Temmex Brothers from October
2008 to July 2017 and has been a project manager of Temmex Brothers since
October 2008.

Mr. Chung commenced working as a formwork works apprentice in 1979 and
has gained nearly 41 years of working experience in the formwork works industry.

Mr. Chung completed primary education in Huizhou, China in 1970.
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Mr. Luk Chun Yip

Mr. Luk Chun Yip (“Mr. Luk”), aged 29, is a contracts and estimating manager of
our Group. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the tender submissions and
providing contfractual advices on project management and cost control to the
Group.

Mr. Luk first joined the Group as a contracts and estimating manager of Temmex
since November 2018.

Mr. Luk has over eight years of experience in quantity surveying and contracts
management. Prior to joining the Group, he worked at Leighton Contractors (Asia)
Limited from July 2013 to July 2017, with his last position being a project quantity
surveyor. He also worked at Turner & Townsend Limited as a cost manager from
September 2017 to November 2018.

Mr. Luk obtained his bachelor of science in building engineering and
management at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2013. He has
been a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors since March 2017. He
has also been a registered professional surveyor (quantity surveying) with the
Surveyors Registration Board since July 2018.

Mr. Yuen Kam Fai

Mr. Yuen Kam Fai ("Mr. Yuen”), aged 30, is a quantity surveying manager of the
Group. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the contractual and financial
aspects of construction projects as well as the follow-up actions involved.

Mr. Yuen first joined the Group as an assistant quantity surveyor of Temmex since
November 2015, and was then being promoted to a quantity surveyor in January
2018. He has further been promoted to a quantity surveying manager since
January 2019.

Mr. Yuen has over six years of experience in electronic engineering and quantity
surveying. He worked at Simatelex Industrial Company International Limited as an

electronic engineer from May 2014 to May 2015.

Mr. Yuen obtained his bachelor of engineering in electronic and communication
engineering at the City University of Hong Kong in July 2014.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Teh Lai Ching

Ms. Teh Lai Ching ("Ms. Teh"), aged 49, is the company secretary of the Company
appointed on 4 November 2019. She is mainly responsible for the general
secretarial affairs of the Company. She is a director of KCAT Company Secretarial
Limited (TCSP Licence No.: TC006895), a professional service provider specialising
in company secretarial services.

Ms. Teh has over 20 years of experience in company secretarial work in
international professional firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. She gained
extensive knowledge and experience in corporate governance, regulatory
compliances and other general commercial matters. Ms. Teh is currently also a
company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since her appointment with the Company in August 2020.

Ms. Teh obtained her higher certificate in company secretaryship and
administration in October 1995 from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
She later obtained her master of business administration from the University of
Strathclyde in Glasgow, Scotland in July 1999 and her bachelor of laws (external
programme) from the University of London in the United Kingdom in August 2006.
Ms. Teh has been an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and an associate of the Chartered Governance Institute since
November 1997.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance, as the Board believes that good and effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to obtain and maintain the
trust and safeguarding inferest of the shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound corporate governance
principles that emphasise a quality Board, effective internal control, stringent
disclosure practices and transparency, and accountability to all stakeholders.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions set out in the CG
Code. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has fully complied with the CG
Code since the Listing Date up to 31 March 2021.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as follows:

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company’s
employees who, because of their offices or employments, are likely o possess
inside information in relation to the Company and/or its securities. Upon specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for their leadership and supervision over the Group’s
operation and is committed to achieving the goal of increasing Shareholders’
value.

Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (CFO)

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi

Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Biographical details of the Directors including relationship between Board
members are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 19 to 27 of this annual report.

The current proportion of independent non-executive Director is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A and 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules whereby independent
non-executive directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the
board and the board must include at least three independent non-executive
directors. The Company has four independent non-executive Directors, which
represents more than one-third of the board.

Furthermore, we have complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules of having
at least one of the independent non-executive directors has appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

With the various experience of the Directors and the nature of the Group's
business, the Board considered that the Directors have a balance of skills and
experience for the business of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors shall
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, whereas code provision
A.4.2 states that all directors appointed fo fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to
election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles, any Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each Director (including non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors) has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from the Listing Date and
shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles, all Directors will retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. At the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to
the Shareholders in relation to the proposed re-election of all retired Directors
as executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors respectively.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE
BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a
balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage to protect Directors
from possible legal action against them. The insurance coverage would be
reviewed on an annual basis.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board as
they bring an impartial view on the Company’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken info
account. The requirement regarding the representation of independent non-
executive Directors is, that there must be more than one-third of the members
of the Board with at least one of them having appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such Directors to
be independent in accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company's roles of the chairman and chief executive are separate
and exercised by different individuals. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is the chairman of
the Board and Mr. Cheung Kit Hung is the CEO.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal
control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always
encouraged the Directors to aftend relevant training courses to receive the latest
news and knowledge regarding corporate governance, in order to effectively
perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.
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Every newly appointed Director had received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally facilitated briefings for
Directors were arranged and reading materials on relevant topics were provided
to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses af the Company’s expenses.

The records of continuous professional development relating to director's duties,
regulatory and governance updates and business development that have been

received by the Directors for FY2021 are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors

BEHZEEENEREZARCERLE
ARZENHABEI - ABEREEE ZEAR
NAIEBREE W2 MEERE EHR
AR E AR ENEEBERET -

EXE2AEXURAZILEH B HHH
BLIEE  ARFCHBEBATRESER
BHANENTERAESEHABEIENH
B ARBRIREAAEES LR RAEE
RiE - BRARARARE -

EER T —FURFEMEIABE
ERE EELEARMERNMEBEREN
FESEXERFIICHEHRIT -

Type of Training Mo
B3| 58 Bl ()

EEHA

Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung P2EFELA
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung RGBS A
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi R/ EE
Mr. Leung Wing Chun R A
Non-executive Director: FHITES :
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang FmEksE
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTES:
Mr. Ng Lin Fung REBEE
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIE A
Mr. Chu Hau Lim REREE
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond REERE
Note:

Types of Training:

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five Board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee, the Compliance
Committee and the ESG Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the Stock
Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.skymission.group and in compliance with code provision A.3.2. All Board
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations
made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and each Director, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expenses.

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance, carrying out training
and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing the
Company's compliance with the code provisions in the CG Code and disclosures
in this CG report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

According to code provision A.1.1, regular Board meetings should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. As the Shares of the
Company were listed on 29 September 2020, only two Board meetings were held
from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

During the period from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report, the
chairman held one meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other executive Directors on 28 June 2021.

No general meeting was held since the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report. The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is
scheduled to be held in September 2021.

No ESG Committee* meeting was held since the Listing Date and up fo the date
of this annual report. An ESG Committee meeting is scheduled fo be held around
October 2021 to consider, inter alia, the ESG report of the Company.
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EEHERLETAHEEAFHRAMHYH

Details of all Directors’ attendance at Board meetings and Board’s committee

meetings held during the period from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual ~ BT EE@e#hEEEE e v H15:
report:
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
BEHEBITEBIRE
Audit  Remuneration Nomination ~ Compliance
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting*
EXE EBNREET FMEESE REEET LSREES
e L L L LN
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung REFLE 2/2  N/ATEA 11 N N/ATEA
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung SRR AE 172 N/ATEH 01 01 0/
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi 2EBEE 2/2  NATEA NATER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Leung Wing Chun RS 2/2  NATEE NATER NATEA 1
Non-executive Director: EHTES:
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang ErfEEE 2/2  N/ATER  NATEAR  NATER NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FEHITEE :
Mr. Ng Lin Fung REBEE 2/2 2/2 N M N/ATEA
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MBI L& 2/2 2/2 % 1N N/ATER
Mr. Chu Hau Lim RERLE 2/2 2/2 n n 7
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond RRELE 2/2  N/ATER 11 NATER NATER
* The committees consist of other members which are not Board members. * ZLZEGRBUIEEFEXNENHMAE -

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance with Rule 3.21 and
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which mandate that the Audit Committee must
comprise non-executive Directors only, comprising a minimum of three members.
the majority of the members of the Audit Committee must be independent non-
executive Directors and must be chaired by an independent non-executive
Director; and at least one of the members of the Audit Committee is an
independent non-executive Director who possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Written terms of reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with code

provision C.3.3 have been adopted and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on appointment or reappointment and removal of external auditor;
review the financial statements of the Group and make judgements in respect
of financial reporting; and oversee the effectiveness of the procedures of the risk
management and internal control procedures of the Group and monitor any
future and/or potential continuing connected transactions.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr.
Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Chu Hau Lim. Mr. Chu Hau Lim is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

During the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee held
two meetings and the summary of work performed is set out below:

(i) reviewed the condensed consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2020;

il  reviewed the reports from the auditor, accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, management representation letters and
management’s response in relation to the annual results for FY2021;

il  reviewed the consolidated financial statements for FY2021 in conjunction
with the management and the auditor;

(iv)  made recommendation to the Board on re-appointment of auditor; and

(v reviewed the Company’s internal control procedures and risk management
system and recommend the same to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for FY2021 comply with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.1.2 of the CG Code and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company's website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors, senior management and general staff of the Group and
ensure that none of the Directors or any of their associates determine their own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of six members, namely Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung, Mr. Cheung Kit Hung, Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr. Lam Kwong Siu, Mr. Chu
Hau Lim and Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond. Mr. Ng Lin Fung is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee met once and the summary of work performed is set out below:

- reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are set out in the
paragraph headed “Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management and Five
Highest Paid Individuals” of the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group established the Nomination Committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision A.5.2 and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size,
composition, diversity of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by the
Company on 7 September 2020 (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on a regular basis;
implement the Board Diversity Policy and identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members; assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating fo appointment or reappointment of Directors. The Board
has also adopted a board nomination policy (the “Board Nomination Policy”)
on 7 September 2020, which sets out the selection criteria and process, and
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of
Directors of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung, Mr. Cheung Kit Hung, Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Chu
Hau Lim. Mr. Lam Kwong Siu is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

According to the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy, the
Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition and makes
recommendations of changes to the composition of the Board. The Nomination
Committee would consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity set out in the
Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural, educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service and other qualities in reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board, and all appointments to the Board will
be based on merits and will take into account of factors based on the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

During the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee met once and the summary of work performed is set out below):

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(il  assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

liil  made recommendations to the Board on the elections of Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 7 September 2020.

The purpose of the Board Diversity Policy is to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board, maintain a high standard of corporate governance, and recognise and
embrace the benefits of diversity in our Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, candidates to the Board will be selected based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, length of service, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution which the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Board believes that such merit-based
appointments will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.
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The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company and to develop a pipeline of potential
successors, including but without limitation at the Board, recognising that gender
diversity af the Board level can be improved given its current composition of nine
male Directors. In recognising the importance of gender diversity, the Company
is committed to provide career development opportunities for female staff by
ensuring that there is gender diversity in staff recruitment at the mid to senior
levels, and more resources will be devoted in training female staff who have
extensive and relevant experiences in the business, with the aim that we will
have a pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to the
Board. As female representation and the pool of qualified females in senior
roles will keep growing through the economy, we expect to have more female
representation on the Board in the future. Further, the Company has confirmed
that, subject to the development and the requirement of the business, the
Nomination Committee shall identify and recommend and the Company shall
appoint at least one female candidate to the Board within three years from Listing
Date, and continue to apply the principle of appointments based on merits with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

The effective implementation of the Board Diversity Policy requires that the
Shareholders are able to judge for themselves whether the Board as constituted
is a reflection of diversity, or a gradual move to increased diversity, on a scale
and at a speed which they support. To this end, the Shareholders will be provided
with detailed information of each candidate for appointment or re-election to
the Board through announcements and circulars published prior to the general
meetings of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will be responsible for the implementation, monitoring
and periodic review of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness
and application. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable
objectives which the Board has set for implementing the same, and the progress
on achieving those objects, have been disclosed above and will continue to be
disclosed in the corporate governance reports of the Company annually.

The Board consists of nine members, comprising four executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and four independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including quantity surveying,
banking, digital media and information technology, leadership and management,
audit, accounting and company secretarial matters in addition to experiences in
the construction industry. Furthermore, the age range of our Board ranges from
36 years old to 87 years old. We also have a good mix of new and experienced
Directors, such that the executive Directors have been part of the Group for
between two and 23 years, who have valuable knowledge and insight on our
Group’'s business over the years, while the other Directors are expected to bring
in fresh ideas and new perspectives to the Group.
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After due consideration, although the Board currently has no female
representation, having taken into consideration our existing business model, the
Group business’ specific needs, and the background of each of the Directors, the
Board believes that the composition of our Board satisfies the principles under the
Board Diversity Policy.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 7
September 2020. The Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

The summary of the Nomination Policy including nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidate for directorship are as follows:

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying candidates for
directorship, including recommendations from Board members, management,
and professional search firms. In addition, the Nomination Committee will
consider candidates for directorship properly submitted by the Shareholders.

All candidates for directorship, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by the Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon
the candidates’ qualifications, as summarised below. While candidates for
directorship will be evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which
may vary based on the composition, skill sets, and experiences of the collective
Board rather than on the individual candidate.
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The evaluation of candidates for directorship may include, without limitation, the
following:

review of resume and job history;
- personal interviews;

- verification of professional and personal references; and

performance of background checks.

The Board will consider the recommendations of the Nomination Committee and
is responsible for designating the candidate(s) for directorship to be considered
by the Shareholders for their election at the general meeting of the Company, or
appointing the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies
or as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional document of the Company.

All appointments of Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or
service contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of the
Directors.

Director Selection Criteria

In considering the nomination of candidates for directorship, the Nomination
Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the qualifications, skills
and experience, gender diversity, efc. that can add to and complement the range
of skills, experience and background of existing Directors.

The Nomination Committee considers the following qualifications as a minimum
to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to be a potential
new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

- proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability
to exercise sound business judgment;

- skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

- the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;
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- an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for a
member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy necessary
to diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

- independence: the candidates for independent non-executive directorship
should meet the independence criteria as required under the Listing Rules
and the composition of the Board in conformity with the provisions of the
Listing Rules.

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum criteria for candidate
for directorship, although the Nomination Committee may also consider such
other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole. For instance, the Nomination Committee believes
it is appropriate for at least one independent non-executive Director to have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Board Succession Plan

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has
been created or is expected due to a Director’s death, resignation, retirement,
disqualification, removal from office or other cause or due to an increase in the
authorised number of Directors as required.

Depending on the circumstances, the Nomination Committee with the assistance
of the management of the Company may endeavor to identify in advance one
or more candidates who may fill those expected vacancies. The Nomination
Committee develops the criteria to be applied in identifying candidates, based
upon the considerations described above.

The Company reviews the Nomination Policy on an annual basis having regard
to the regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and the
expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company.

TREBRE

- THRIEREESHREMBRENTE
EARHPETZEETHETEAN
BERED &

- BYME:BIYUFATEFNREAR
NELEMRAUARENBIIERER
E=SHARENS LTRANHAE -

BRATALE SN - W EE EREAZ T AKER
% BERZZECUETEEER/TE
RRRARBREBBREN S BAEMBEE -
fian - REEEER/ED —RBIIFNTT
EFEBLITRUREZBEEXERK
SRNEEVBERERTEEE -

EEEETHE

REAZBERTGHEFEEREEALRE
HEEEFH BT RE BUHER B
BRAKEMERALMREE FREARK
SN AE AL

BIEAME RAEESEAAREEE
MBI T AR E IR e — A RS R
EHBEHERZ BEA  RAEE G R
XA ERREHEEEERYEER
Az B

ARBRBEERTE  REGEERFTRN

BRREARBEMITNE 2 HLEEFia
RAE -

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21

43



44

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMSE

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the Compliance Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to ensure compliance
with regulatory matters as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of regulatory
compliance procedures and system.

The Compliance Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Cheung Kit
Hung, Mr. Leung Wing Chun, Mr. Chu Hau Lim and Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy. Mr.
Cheung Kit Hung is the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

During the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Compliance
Committee met once and the summary of work performed is set out below:

(i) liaised with relevant government authorities and statutory bodies to ensure
proper compliance of the Group;

(il ensured compliance with the Company’s internal control procedure manual
and the relevant safety policies, and make relevant compliance-related
recommendations to the Board from time to time;

[iil  made recommendations on review measures to the Board to improve the
health and safety of workers of the Group and to monitor the safety policy,
procedures and systems of the Group;

(ivi  reviewed and approved report from relevant partylies) which certifies that
the Company has put in place compliance policies and controls and report
on the content and action plan for any remedial measures necessary to
address gaps;

(v} ensured compliance with the requirements of the publication of financial
information of the Company in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(vi  reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(vil ensured that key employees have been trained on the details of the

Company’s internal control procedure manual and the relevant safety
policies;
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(vii) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in the Listing Rules; prepared and submitted a
summary report every half-yearly to the Board on the overall compliance
performance and corporate governance practices of the Group. A copy of
the summary report was sent to the Audit Committee for its information;
and

(ix)  reviewed the Company’'s compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and made recommendations on review
measures for the Board's consideration and approval.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Group established the ESG Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 7 September 2020 with written terms of reference and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee are to support the Board in
implementing the ESG Policy and collect ESG data from different parties while
preparing for the Group’s ESG report for each financial year going forward. It also
serves as a supportive role and would report directly to the Board regularly, and
oversee and monitor in implementing measures to address the Group’s ESG-
related risks and responsibilities.

The ESG Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Leung Wing Hoi, the
site manager Mr. Ng Kam Tong, the foreman Mr. Chung Chi Ming, the safety
officer Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy, and our safety supervisor Mr. Cheung Pui Wah.
Mr. Lau Chi Shing Tommy is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

No ESG Committee meeting has been held since the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report. The ESG Committee meeting is scheduled to be held
around October 2021.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Teh Lai Ching (“Ms. Teh”) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 4 November 2019. Ms. Teh is a director of KCAT
Company Secretarial Limited, a professional services provider specialising in
company secretfarial services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary on
corporate governance and board practices and matters. Mr. Cheung Kit Hung,
the CEO has been designated as the primary contact person at the Company
which would work and communicate with Ms. Teh on the Company’s corporate
governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

During FY2021, Ms. Teh has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for preparing the accounts
for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group and of the results and cash flow for the year then
ended. In preparing the accounts for FY2021, the Directors have:

(il  selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently;

(il made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and

(il  prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

A statement by the Auditor about the Directors’ reporting responsibilities is
included in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 69.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for overseeing the
Company’s internal control, financial control and risk management system and
shall monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The Group has an internal
audit function and a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems has been conducted by the Board at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or
fraud, the Company has established a risk management procedures which
comprised the following steps:

o Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could affect the
achievement of goals of the Group;

] Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according to its
likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and

o Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated annually, and
the results of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of each functions or
operation are documented in the Risk Registry fo communicate to the Board and
management for reviews.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are, however,
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been
carried out by an independent consultancy company and staff in possession of
relevant expertise to conduct an independent review.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report issued by
the independent consultancy company and the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems in respect of FY2021 and considered that they are
effective and adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering the internal control review report and reviews performed
by the Audit Committee and concurred the same.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 1 B4R 325 B

During FY2021, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the W -ZT = —FHHFEE » BEZ R IEEFZR
Company, Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of the audit and non-audit services ~ #E Ak EI AR RINIZ BRI R BRIR (B

were as follows: B) BRI ERABRARZHMMNT

Nature of services Remuneration charged

R R Wi ER A 3R B
HK$
BT

Annual audit of the Group’s consolidated financial ANEER —Z -~ —FHBFE

statements for FY2021 e ﬁﬁ%#ﬁ%ZiF%ﬁ 1,500,000
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries EBFMAZHEA

incorporated in Hong Kong for FY2020 e S X557 4114 if Eﬂ“ﬁﬁ?Z%V 500,000
Professional services as reporting accountant ERBRGTIR AR FRMNDER ETRMEZ

in relation to initial listing of the shares of the HERB (FIE)

Company (Note) 4,980,000
Non-audit services in respect of agreed-upon EHEBE—_ZS-_TFNA=THIEA~EA

procedures on interim financial information forthe  F EABI 5 & KR T2 5 2 IEBZ R

six-months ended 30 September 2020 200,000
Total #Et 7,180,000

Note: The amount represents the total fee for the entire professional services as reporting s : Z &S EABER St iRt 2

accountant for the Listing. Such professional fees have been recognised in various SHEXRGHEER ZEXEBRENE
accounting periods. Eesr BEER
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

One of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights is fo separate
resolutions proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election and re-election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meeting
will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after the relevant
Shareholders’ meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on requisition
of Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company or by such Shareholders who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”)
(as the case may be) pursuant to article 58 of the Arficles of Association. Such
requisition must state the object of business to be transacted at the meeting
and must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered office
of the Company or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in such
article for convening an extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders may put forward proposals with general meeting of the Company
by sending the proposals to the Company at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room 1101, Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau Fu Street, Yuen
Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions by Shareholders
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph to consider the business specified in the
requisition.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests
in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 1101, Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau Fu Street, Yuen Long, New
Territories, Hong Kong.
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The Company has in place “Procedures for Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director” adopted by the Board on 7 September 2020, which
is subject to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association in force
from time to time, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and applicable
legislation and regulation:

o If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to aftend and vote at the general
meeting convened to deal with the appointment or election/re-election
of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1101, Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau
Fu Street, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
company secretary of the Company.

o In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders of that proposal, the
written notice must state (i) his/her intention to propose such person for
election as a Director, and (i) the biographical details of such nominated
candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules for publication
by the Company and be signed by the Shareholder concerned and the
person who has been proposed indicating his/her willingness to be elected
and consent of the publication of his/her personal information.

o The period for lodgement of the above notice shall be a 7-day period
commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election of Director(s) and ending on the date
falling 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

o Upon receipt of the above notice from a Shareholder which is received after
publication of the nofice of general meeting, the Company shall, prior to
the general meeting, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular disclosing the particulars of the proposed Director pursuant to Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may write to

the company secretary of the Company at Room 1101, Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau
Fu Street, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy aiming to set
out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders with information
about the Company and enabling them to engage actively with the Company
and exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with its
Shareholders as follows:

(i Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and
circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.skymission.group;

(il  Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

[iil  Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(ivi  Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors
and senior management; and

(v The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and related
matters.

The Company continues to promote investor relations and enhance
communication with the existing Shareholders and potential investors. It
welcomes suggestions from investors, the public and other stakeholders.
Enquiries to the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents since the
Listing Date. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2021.

SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated on 31 May 2019 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Shares were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 September 2020. For details of the
share offer, please refer to the Prospectus.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Information regarding use of net proceeds from listing was disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Use of Net Proceeds from Listing” under “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong Kong. The
details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the Group’s
principal activities during FY2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 31
May 2019. The Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
principal place of business is situated at Room 1101, Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau Fu
Street, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent a reorganisation. For details
of the reorganisation please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for FY2021 by operating segment is set
out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 7 September
2020. The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate
procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company. Accordingly, the Dividend Policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to
capture future growth opportunities.

According to the Dividend Policy, the declaration and recommendation of

dividends is subject to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon the following factors:

° the Group'’s financial results;

o the Group’s cashflow;

o the Group’s Shareholders’ interest;

o general business conditions and strategies;

o the Group’s current and future operations;

o the Group'’s liquidity and capital requirements;

° taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend, and subject
to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to
recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend
upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general
financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting the

Group.

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or final dividends.

The Board will continue to review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for FY2021 and the statement of financial position of the
Company and the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of financial
position in this annual report respectively.

The Board does not recommend, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, the payment of a final dividend (2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on Friday, 24
September 2021 (the “2021 AGM”). To determine the entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2021 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 20 September 2021 to Friday, 24 September 2021, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to
attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 September 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the Group’s business for FY2021 and the discussion on the Group’s
future business development are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 8 to 9 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 10 to 18 of this annual report. The description of principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing and key performance indicators are set out in
the section headed, “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to minimising the adverse impact to the environment
caused by business operations. In order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations, the Group established
an environmental management policy to ensure proper management of
environmental protection and compliance of environmental laws and regulations
by both employees and workers of the subcontractors on, among others, air
pollution, noise control and waste disposal. The Group will continue to reduce the
impacts of its operation on the environment and continue to make efforts to save
energy.

A report on the ESG aspects prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules will be issued within three months after the publication of this annual
report. The report will be published on the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and on the website of the Company at www.skymission.group.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During FY2021, there was no material breach or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulation by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all of its stakeholders and attempts to
engage them through different initiatives. Human capital is the most valuable
asset of the Group. The Group provides and reviews regularly the remuneration
packages, training programmes, and staff engagement activities to keep it
competitive and to attract, nurture and retain talents and employees.

A long-term good relationship with business partners (as well as suppliers and
customers) brings benefits for the Group and is important in accomplishing its
immediate and long-term goals.

Apart from the connection in business relationship, the Group also engages
its customers and suppliers to collaborate and strive for better performance
in business operation, environment, and community investment. The Group
encourages employees to engage in community activities voluntarily.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
FY2021 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group during
FY2021 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 March 2021 was 1,600,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during FY2021 are set
out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
FY2021 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
comprising the aggregate amount of share premium less accumulated losses,
amounted to approximately HK$89,790,000.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 152. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during FY2021 and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Yam Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung (CFO)

Mr. Leung Wing Hoi

Mr. Leung Wing Chun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Lin Fung

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu

Mr. Chu Hau Lim

Mr. Leung Ka Ho Raymond

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 19 to 27 of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, all Directors will retire at the 2021 AGM
and, all being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has an unexpired
service contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries, which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions” in this report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any of the Company’s Director or
an entity connected with the Director or controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
FY2021 or at any time during FY2021.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2021 or at the end of FY2021 was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its holding company or the subsidiaries of its holding company, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

At no time during FY2021 or at the end of FY2021 was the Company a party to any
equity-linked agreements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

To the knowledge of the Board, as at 31 March 2021, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) which were
required, under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in
that section, or (c) which were required under the Model Code fo be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Interests in shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
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Notes:

(1) The letfter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the Company/the
associated corporate.

(2)  These 1,200,000,000 Shares are held by Sky Mission, a company incorporated in the
BVI and owned as to 100% by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung. Therefore, Mr. Leung Yam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all of the 1,200,000,000 Shares held by Sky
Mission for the purposes of the SFO.

(3)  As at 31 March 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was 1,600,000,000
Shares.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2021, there were no interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or were required, under Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred fo in that section, or were required under the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN THE SHARES

So far as the Directors are aware, as of 31 March 2021, the following corporations/
persons (other than Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests
of 5% or more in the issued Shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest
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() The lefter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Sky Mission is beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Leung Yam Cheung. Therefore,
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the 1,200,000,000 Shares
held by Sky Mission for the purposes of the SFO.

(3)  As at 31 March 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was 1,600,000,000
Shares.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2021, no other persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) owned interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO or interests or short positions required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant o Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

No share option was adopted by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party/connected transactions are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no other contracts, relating to the management and/
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisting during FY2021.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

During FY2021, none of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders and their
respective close associates had any interests in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group which would be required to be disclosed
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities secured or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 1,161 employees. The Group continues
to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with
adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual's performance and experience. On top
of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible staff by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and chief executives, and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group for FY2021 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group who are non-Director

and non-chief executive officer for FY2021 falls within the following bands:

Remuneration Band

B < =
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HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or the
laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on
a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders of the Company.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during FY2021 and FY2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information publicly
available to the Company, throughout FY2021 and as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained a sufficient public float
of at least 25% in the issued share capital of the Company as required under the
Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2021.
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Directors’ Report
EEEWRS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During FY2021, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
73.2% (FY2020: 93.8%) of the total revenue of the Group and the largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately 27.3% (FY2020: 41.2%) of the total
revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During FY2021, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 87.2% (FY2020:
78.7%) of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for 48.3% (FY2020: 39.1%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
corporate governance report on pages 30 to 51 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2021 were audited by
Mazars CPA Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited
as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 2021 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Yam Cheung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Independent Auditor’s Report

m

To the members of
Skymission Group Holdings Limited
lincorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Skymission Group
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 151, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group at 31 March 2021, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the "Audlifor’s Responsibilities for the Audiit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B AZRE R

Mazars CPA LIMITED

o 3 R ER (W ) o o s 7 R
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

T VS H AT U Y 2 1 8% b IR SR 4 248

Tel Fifi : (852) 2909 5555

Fax {1 : (852) 2810 0032

Email % : info@mazars.hk

Website A1k : www.mazars.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BEEITSE

BAREST S
E%ﬁ%%?r%léﬁ%mﬁiﬁﬁE’Ué%ﬂ%ﬁ " R
¥T$HHZ EMBBRRNBARSREZENS

EZ%%IEEM@Z{F?% SRR AMEHmEK
&tﬂﬂ*ﬁfaﬁﬁﬂﬂ’&@ mEM TS HEZE
FEEHEBER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EAMESFNIREERENSER

Refer to notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
BB AVBRRNE2 X4

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts

BARESHEENBRARRA

The Group's revenue from construction contracts is recognised
over time using the output method, based on direct measurements
of the value transferred by the Group to the customer with
reference to the certified value of work performed up to the end
of the reporting period and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group. The Group’s contract costs are
recognised when work is performed, together with any provisions
for onerous contracts.

AR BEEBERBEARBERENU R K TIENRAEER
)32 %;‘%E@%ET ,’]Zﬁ%%ﬂ&l}\ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%?%?%gﬁg
: BE B

We identified the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts as a key audit matter as significant management’s
estimations and judgements are required in determining the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation and the outcome of the construction contracts.

MR EETE TKRBETROETAERBLNERS AR
EREFIELEAM MHE - E&ﬁzﬂiﬁﬂﬂiﬁ ZHRAHHW
AR BB RS TR 0
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Our key audit procedures, on sample basis where appropriate,
in relation to the recognition of revenue and costs for
construction confracts includes:

BMEAERRESORARKAZ BB IERF A M
B (Em) B

° Understanding and evaluating the Group’s processes
and controls over contract revenue and contract costs
recognition and budget estimation;

o TEREFEAKENREANRES
AHER R IBE RS

KA R & #IAK

° Agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation to the latest certificates
issued by the customers before and after the year end;

s EHEZRBTENRTHNERBANAEFRER
AR ANSHES

° Assessing the management's estimate of the impact
to revenue arising from scope changes made to the
original contracts, claim and disputes with reference to
supporting documents including variation orders and
correspondence among the Group and customers;

e BBZ2ZE ESEMREHERPZEMERXME (8
RITRERER N RE) nHEAIEQFQZ’JI
E;ﬁ’j&%ﬁ’]ﬂﬁz% CRERFEREFHHEBANTELZ

o Assessing the reasonableness of the gross margin
during the year by comparing with the budgeted gross
margin of the whole construction project; and

e FERHEEEZRFAMNAEENTETLE
AEFENRNEENE R

5

° Checking construction costs incurred during the year by
tracing to supporting documents.

o EMIERNMBEFRELMNBEKA



KEY AUDIT MATTERS /(CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

BREITSEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B E

BREST S IE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RO ESFNAEEERESSE

Refer to notes 2 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements

F2HE A BHRME2 K26

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

BEZRUIRA RS NEENRENE

The Group applied the simplified approach to calculate the expected
credit loss ("ECL") for trade receivables and contract assets which is
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. Management, with
the assistance of independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”),
performed a detailed analysis which considered customers’ ageing
profile, credit history, historical payment pattern and forward-looking
information for the estimation of ECL on its trade receivable and
contract assets.

REREEY - SEEENZ! ﬂ?ﬁﬁmmgﬁﬁa(ﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁf*g@ﬂab
ERBLETEESRUERNANBEENRREERE -1

éﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁi(ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂmE’]Tﬁ%EjJT EE@FE(’E&?ZE DA

%F%}EE’]BEM’%ZEA 1*““J_EE BENTEXRATEEEFR -
U E ZREEARANEENEREERE -

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of
the balances. Furthermore, a significant degree of management
estimation is required in assessing ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets which may affect their carrying amounts.

BPBRE S ERERREHEERETHRBEEETFA
REARZSHEBMERX - JLh » Rt 1B E HBBIESR LG K&
E EAEEREIRYSEEEE H ERERELEA
EIEPALTI

Our key audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of trade
receivables and contract assets includes:

BMEME SRR A NEENTREY ? BREE
R

Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk
management and practices and assessing the Group’s
policy in accordance with the requirements of applicable
accounting standards;

T EEEZEER
APEAESRGHE BE

REELER UREBERS
LESE

Evaluating the judgements and estimates made by
management and the Valuer regarding the factors
considered during the ECL assessments of trade receivables
and contract assets with reference to the historical payment
records, public available information, credit history of the
Group's customers and forward-looking information;

R2ZBANKCE  RFEATGEN - EEERPE
SEEEMAEEEN FEEEERGEEMRESE
WEES Rk a M EBEZBEMEEBRFGTEENEER
1 O BT K (A 5T

Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuer who assisted the management to determine the
ECL;

HpPHEREECRREEBERNGEEMNEE &
N R EBNEEITE

Checking the accuracy of the ageing categories of trade
receivables and contract assets, on a sample basis;

MRS E PR R A M B ERRER D B ERE

Testing the subsequent settlements to bank remittance and
the latest amounts of revenue certified by customers, on a
sample basis; and

MO RRITERNRES
k- 4

EEREPHERNTIBA

Checking the calculation of ECL based on the methodology
adopted by the Group and adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in relation to credit risk in the consolidated
financial statements.

Bz EEERANTEAE EEEEGAMBR
Tﬁ%;ﬁfﬂ{:ﬁ AR BB AN N  RERREEES
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS /(CONTINUED)

Key audit matters
BARET SR

BRESEIE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANESFNIREERENSER

Refer to notes 2 and 21(e) to the consolidated financial statements
FLEGE VB RENE2 X216

Recognition of expenses for the initial listing of the shares of the Company

‘R BEARRHOBERLTHRX

Relevant costs incurred for the initial listing of the shares of the
Company are allocated and classified among (i) profit or loss as
listing expenses and (i) equity as a reduction of share premium
upon the capitalisation issue, on the basis that whether the costs
are (i) costs for the Company to obtain the listing status or (ii)
incremental costs for the Company to raise additional funds from
the issue of new shares, respectively.

BERAIRMERETEENABKRATDENZERAZN &
NAER ETHAORARL) ERARBEITHROESEEI
BB - 2RI 1EE ((ER LTS MliltEzs (1F
RENMEBETRRMDEBHR) <cHIERDHE -

Costs attributable to issue of new shares of approximately e
HK$32,935,000 were recognised in equity as a reduction of share
premium and costs attributable to obtaining the listing status of
approximately HK$5,679,000 were charged to profit or loss.

B AT 7 AR B A B 7R 49 32,935,000 7 TT FA R 7 R RE AR AR IR 19 U5
BHR, - &S i EEK AN 5,679,000 87T B 1B IR

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because
the classification and allocation of relevant costs incurred involves
a significant degree of management judgement.

MRARELER AN DB RO REAREE R HE -
EECH LA ERERRBRETEE -
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BB BRER
EREFEE

Our key audit procedures in relation to the classification and
recognition of expenses for the initial listing of the shares of the
Company includes:

BERAIRMER EMRAX 2%

Enquiring of the management on the bases of
classification and allocation for the relevant costs and
assessing the reasonableness of these bases with
reference to the applicable accounting standards and
guidelines; and

REBERM G LR RIEENEFR - BLAARK A
PREOEREEBETHARLIERETEENS
Bt R

Checking samples of expenses items that made up the
total costs incurred for the initial listing of the shares of
the Company to invoices and agreements to confirm the
natures of the items and checking whether these items
have been correctly classified and allocated according to
the bases determined by the management.

WREZLRHHEMERE SQFRKRMNERLETAR
EENBERAEXRNFEXIER  UBERBEENEE
VirEZEFEARRRREEEEENEERIEME
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the 2020/21 annual report of
the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
aftention in our auditor’s report o the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease fo continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is:

Law Lai Ting

Practising Certificate number: P07322

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEBEmRkEMEEING R
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHLFE

2021 2020
—EZ-F e S
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET T
Revenue PN 4 534,280 434,624
Cost of services AR B A (462,381) (355,377)
Gross profit EF 71,899 79,247
Other income EmA 5 21,458 261
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 & E 4% & 5 &% (17,303) (12,334)
Finance costs R AP 6 (468) (176)
Listing expenses MR (5,679) (18,136)
Profit before tax FRELAT AR 6 69,907 48,862
Income tax expenses s’ 9 (9,299) (10,856)
Profit and total comprehensive income for ARREEABLFEREFR
the year attributable to owners of THEHIRHEEE
the Company 60,608 38,006
Earnings per share BRER HK cents HK cents
Bl JEN
Basic and diluted BER N EE 10 4.32 3.7

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

As at 31 March 2021
RZTE=Z—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
B % ZETF
Noje HK$'000 HK$'000
M e F#ET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 12 45,470 7,191
Deferred tax assefs RETHIEEE 20 357 357
45,827 7,548
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 PR T E b FEURBR X 13 230,063 142,906
Contract assefs BHEE 14 92,359 142,822
Contract costs BRI 15 4,053 2,439
Bank balances and cash RITEESR MRS 56,676 43,856
383,151 332,023
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B S EMNRR R E AR ERR 16 47,848 132,584
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 17 42,135 15,100
Amount due to the Ultimate Controlling Party &< & 48 #28 I 5 5008 18 - 174
Income tax payable JESTETIS R 5,834 26,218
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 1,122 601
96,939 174,677
Net current assets MBEEFE 286,212 157,346
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBERE 332,039 164,894
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMRIEEE 20 159 159
Lease liabilities HEAR 19 476 1,004
635 1,163
NET ASSETS EEFRE 331,404 163,731
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital f&% AR 21(a) 16,000 —*
Reserves 1 315,404 163,731
TOTAL EQUITY FE AR 331,404 163,731
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * S EAHN,0008 T ©

These consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 151 were approved and ~ EHRE73EZ BB 2 GV BREREN T

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021 and signed onits ——HF A+ N\BEZEEFS EWRE
behalf by: T BARUTESKREES
Leung Yam Cheung Cheung Kit Hung
RIEH SREETS
Director Director
EFE EE

74 Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21



Consolidated Statement of Chunges in Equity
Ay el ¥ |

Year ended 31 March 2021

BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATER AW
Reserves
ikt
Share Share Capital  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve profits equity
AR ROEE EXEE  BIFEN ERAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FHET TET TET
(Note 21)  (Note 22(a))  (Note 22(b))
(PfiE21)  (Bi&E 220a)  (Pi&E 22(b))
A1 April 2019 RZE-NFENA—H - - 30 125,695 125,725
Profit and total comprehensive income  4E 3 | J2 & 1 W 2
for the year e - - - 38,006 38,006
Transactions with owners HiES AZE N5
Contributions and distributions HERS
Issue of shares capital TR $ -+ - - - -
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZTF
=A=+—H —* - 30 163,701 163,731
t 1 April 2020 RZE-FTFMA—H —* - 30 163,701 163,731
Profit and total comprehensive income  4E A3 1| &2 & 1 W i
for the year e - - - 60,608 60,608
Transactions with owners HEFAETHRS
Confributions and distributions HE DIk
Issue of shares pursuant to Share Offer 1R B A% 17 8% & B 1T A% 17
(Note 21(el (Ff 55 21(e)) 4,000 136,000 - - 140,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the RIBEE R EITEITRG
Capitalisation Issue (Note 21(d) (P 3 21d)) 12,000 (12,000) = = =
Transaction cost attributable to issue of — Z£1TRX 17 FE(E 22 5 B A
shares (Note 21(e)} GER)) - (32,935) - - (32,935)
16,000 91,065 - - 107,065
At 31 March 2021 R-Z-_—F
—A=+—H 16,000 91,065 30 224,309 331,404
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * ESFAR,000 87T ©

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A ==
GERERER
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EZ—-F —E-FF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B E FExT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Cash (used in) generated from operations e (A SRS 23 (45,096) 5,946
Income tax paid ERETEH (29,683) (9,751)
Finance cost paid BB (468) (176)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEBARSFE (75,247) (3,981)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RERED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEL&E (44,933) (25)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHAREESE (44,933) (25)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
Addition of interest-bearing borrowings SFEEEEM 39,900 16,821
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings BEGTEEBE (12,865) (1,721)
Repayment to the Ultimate Controlling Party EERRIER T HFIA (174) (532)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR (926) (623)
Issue of shares pursuant to Share Offer BRI 3 & BITIRD 140,000 -
Transaction cost aftributable to issue of shares  ##17% 15 FE 1l 32 5 A AR (32,935) -
Net cash generated from financing activiies ~ BEEE SRS F5 133,000 13,945
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERREEEWILINFE 12,820 9,939
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FHE &RV EZEEY
the year 43,856 33,917
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FREGRREZEED
the year, represented by bank balances BRITHEBRIRE
and cash 56,676 43,856
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Skymission Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 31 May 2019, and its shares
were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) by way of placing and public offer on 29 September
2020 (the “Listing”). The Company's registered office is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated at Room 1101,
Yuen Long Centre, 55 Sau Fu Street, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and together with
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in provision of formwork works services in Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Sky Mission Group Limited (“Sky
Mission”), a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"). The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Leung Yam Cheung
(the “Ultimate Controlling Party”).

In preparing for the Listing of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange, the Group underwent a group reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) to rationalise the group structure. As a result of the
Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group on 26 November 2019. Details of
the Reorganisation are more fully explained in the paragraph headed
“Reorganisation” of the section headed “History, Reorganisation and
Corporate Structure” in the prospectus of the Company dated 15 September
2020 (the “Prospectus”).

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHLFE

~BENRERESE

RESEZERERAF ([AAF]) RN
ZE-NFRA=+—AREBEFAEH
ESRAVENFAERSTM HERH
RERRR - EBRHDR_Z_ZFH
AZ+NABURERAFEEN TN
REBBERZZFERAR ([HRXA])
FREMT (ML) o &ARQ R M3
= 5 MY Hb 4k 4 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands © 4N 718 £ & &
EUEA R BT A TS S H55%
TLEAFR D01 E ©
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BN FRERIR TIZIRT -

ARPEERR ARAEELEREK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)

Immediately prior to and after the Reorganisation, the Company and its
subsidiaries now comprising the Group are ultimately controlled by the
Ultimate Controlling Party. The Group’s business is mainly conducted
through Temmex, Temmex Brothers and Kennex (as defined in Note
29) while the Company and other entities within the Group have not
been involved in any other significant activities prior to and after the
Reorganisation. Because the Reorganisation did not result in any change
in the management and the ultimate control of the Group’s business, the
Group is regarded as a continuity entity and, therefore, the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 (and the
comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2020) have been
prepared using the principles of merger accounting in accordance with
Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA").

As further explained in the paragraph headed “merger accounting
for common control combinations” below, the consolidated financial
statements present the consolidated financial position, consolidated
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the entities now comprising the Group as if the current group
structure had always been in existence throughout the reporting periods
or since their respective date of establishment or incorporation, where
applicable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$”) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand
("HK$'000"), unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2020 consolidated
financial statements except for the adoption of the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year as
sef out below.

Changes in accounting policies of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group:

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8: Definition of Material
The amendments clarify the definition of material and align the definition
used across HKFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Definition of a Business

The amendments, among others, revise the definition of a business
and include new guidance to evaluate whether an acquired process is
substantive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group in
preparing the consolidated financial statements is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

Basis of consolidation/combinations

The consolidated financial statements comprises the financial statements
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All'intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
of the Group, except for those acquisitions which qualify as business
combination under common control which are accounted for using merger
accounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation/combinations (Continued)

(a)

Acquisition method of accounting

The acquisition method of accounting involves allocating cost of
the business combination to the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is measured at
the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the
owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest even if this
results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

£33

.

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RMEE

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

'L‘
A

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation/combinations (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition method of accounting (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the
date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed
by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when
control is lost.

Merger accounting for common control combinations

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been consolidated
from the date when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the Ultimate Controlling Party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing carrying values from the Ultimate
Controlling Party’s perspective. No amount is recognised as
consideration for goodwill or excess of acquirer's interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the Ultimate Controlling Party’s
interest. All differences between the cost of acquisition (fair value
of consideration paid) and the amounts at which the assets and
liabilities, arising from the Reorganisation, are recognised as part
of the capital reserve. The consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income include the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless
of the date of the common control combination.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation/combinations (Continued)

(b)  Merger accounting for common control combinations (Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration fees, costs
of furnishing information to shareholders, costs or losses incurred in
combining operations of the previously separate businesses, etc.,
incurred in relation to the common control combination that is to be
accounted for by using merger accounting, are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in subsidiaries
is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the
investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis,
if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly aftributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

'L‘
A

BB AR

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Confinued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as
set out below from the date on which they are available for use and after
taking info account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately:

Right-of-use assets Shorter of assets useful lives or

lease term
Metal scaffold equipment and 4 years
related parts
Motor vehicles 4 years
Decoration 4-10 years
Computer equipment 4 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date
basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire or (i)
the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it fransfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONTINUED) 2. FEESFHEER@

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing
component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case
of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their
fransaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at
amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; (i) equity investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group's business model for managing the financial assets and the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period
following the change in the business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Confinued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the

following conditions and is not designated as FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose obijective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
arising from impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation process
are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other
receivables, contract assefs and bank balances and cash.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case
of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are direct
attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings, amount due to the Ultimate Controlling Party and lease
liabilities. All financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at FVPL and
lease liabilities, are recognised initially af their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the
effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECL")
on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost. Except for the
specific tfreatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal
to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value
of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(il nature of financial instruments;

(i)  past-due status;

(i)  nature, size and industry of debtors; and

(ivi  external credit risk ratings where available.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument's credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The
resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment

gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates
that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
if the financial asset that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the
above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Low credlit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(il the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow

obligations in the near term; and

(il adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed on Note 26, other receivables and bank balances and cash are

determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets without significant financing
components or otherwise for which the Group applies the practical
expedient not to account for the significant financing components, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Crediit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties; or

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset
in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which are

readily convertible info known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The Group adopts a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is provision of
formwork works services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. FEETTBER®)

Revenue recognition (Continued) U N FERE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued) BEAUBHRELENE L RANE A
WA (&)

Identification of performance obligations HENERIE F

At confract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised RERFT L2 AEBEFEERP

in a contract with a customer and identifies as a performance obligation BRPEENERIRE  THERE

each promise to fransfer to the customer either: PHEELAT 2 —BEAZ#RN A —
BEROEME:

(a)  agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or @ HRFTIEANERSRS (S—8t

EmR) ¢ 3K

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same b)  —FRIIKREAER I AR R 48 = 5
and that have the same pattern of fransfer to the customer. ETEFPHNERTRNEmAR
% o
A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the el [B) BSF oy 2 DA T A TR AR 2 - Bl 2K 5 42
following criteria are met: HIEPHEMIREEERAR :
() the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own o) FEPAIREMIRBEAR T Z ek
or together with other resources that are readily available to the GIEE! ﬂié&f’u&‘ﬁﬁkiﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ%—f
customer [i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and BIENEMERES X (A
=1 %THE@‘%TEX%E@WATH) ;
P53
(b)  the Group's promise fo transfer the good or service to the customer bl AEERFFPEESDIRBH
is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e. the A AT BLE K9 R B H A s 9 B
promise fo transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of 5l (BN e &S sl AR 75 1 7 5
the contract). EAEHXERERTR) o
Timing of revenue recognition WA TGRS A
Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance WAR (BN AEBE#EREFEE
obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an assef) to a FriE#mEm Y (BNEE) METE
customer. An asset is fransferred when (or as) the customer obtains control WEERER BER (HH)EP
of that asset. BEZEENIEHIEREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Confinued)

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore,
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one
of the following criteria is met:

(a)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group’'s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example,
work in progress) that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

()  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators
as legal fitle, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of formwork works services is recognised over time
using the output method (as explained below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. FEESFHEER@

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided the outcome
of the performance obligation can be reasonably measured, the Group
applies the output method l(i.e. based on the direct measurements of
the value to the customer of the goods or services transferred to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract) to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of the Group’s
performance and reliable information is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the costs
incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount
(variations in contract work), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to a customer. The variable consideration is
estimated by using either the expected-value or the most-likely-amount
method whichever is better to predict the entitled amount. The estimated
variable consideration is then included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised of the contract will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the
customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in determining the
transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the
effects of the time value of money. The effect of the significant financing
component is recognised as an interest income or interest expense
separately from revenue from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing fransaction between
the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where
appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate that
discounts the cash selling price of the goods or services to the amount paid
in advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group’s
borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness information of the
customer of the Group .

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of the significant
financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.

Rental income from lease of metal scaffold equipment and related parts

Rental income from lease of metal scaffold equipment and related parts is
recognised when the metal scaffold equipment and related parts are let
out and on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired
financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, the
contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented
as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented
as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right to consideration that
is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For the business of provision of formwork works services, in accordance
with the standard payment schedules of the Group and the contracts
with the customers, payments are normally not due or received from the
customer until the services are completed or when the goods are delivered
and certified by the customers. However, for such transactions, revenue
is recognised over time and therefore, a contract asset is recognised until
it becomes a receivable or payments are received. During that period,
any significant financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract asset and recognised as interest income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Contract costs

Contract costs are costs (other than those that are accounted for as
property, plant and equipment) to fulfil contracts with customers.
Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.

The costs to fulfil contracts are capitalised if the costs relate directly to
an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated confract,
generate or enhance resources that will be used to provide goods or
services in the future, and are expected to be recovered. Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred. The costs
are amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services under the specific existing and
anticipated confracts to which the costs relate.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds (a) the remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates; less (b) the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services and that have not been recognised as
expenses. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
the impairment conditions no longer exist or have improved provided the
increased carrying amount of the asset shall not exceed the amount that
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised
previously.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHLFE

TESTTERR#)
BHEA

BHNAIERITREFFIUIMNGHZ
A (HEARRDI R - BFE MREE
BRI o @ERIEE A KRR AR
RETHE SR EBEIR -

BT E KA AN ERIRA & 43K 7] 45
AEETMEHENERAR ELfk
ERBANARERERARENE
IR BTEEE] LAY E - BIEZ AR AN T A
BEXRE- REXLRFEE WX |
FERhEBHBEILEENBTANNE
i PR AN T E A B S 8K o BN IR BLAR R
HENAARENEERA RFEHEHH
EFEREMIRE BN RREE
B -

EEERMEBBQAEEAEHAR
BEEMRBE MRS M A K A K
EereE  BbEZARERZSFIEMA
A7 1A R B s R ERBF A Z
ZHEE - ANBREAERRERSE -
EREKREBERLAMNER K18
SERREEBERLD EEENDIE
ANARE B 15148 18 R R L A 3 8 7 2R
WEEEMAEEENSHE -

HEmE

AEBESBERNMBREAMINIARTS
HERBKLEMENEIZEERENEG
BHeEE® A& AEEMNINEE
¥ REBTT -

SN R SRR B % B R E R
BRYERE - BHER D E R
MRER MG P SNETHEN KB EE
Ko 2 18 71 75 2 #0 B 3636 - 9934 1B 26
R -

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21

99



100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

'L‘
A

BB AR

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is any indication
that property, plant and equipment and the Company’s investment in
subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment
loss is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary
investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation
can be made. Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the expenditures
are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where
the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.

Leases
The Group as lessee

The Group leases various offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of one to three years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants,
but leased assets may be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant
and equipment) and corresponding liability af the date of which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments that are not paid:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the followings:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentive received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs unless those costs are incurred to produce
invenfories.

Payments associated with short-term leases or leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an expense
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture with
individual value below HK$39,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain of its property, plant and equipment, comprising
metal scaffold equipment and related parts to other third parties.

Rental income from leases is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging a lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are
rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme
in Hong Kong are recognised as expense in profit or loss as incurred. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group’s entities
established in Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
When the grants relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released
to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is recovered or the
liability is seftled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment
in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(il has significant influence over the Group; or

[iiil  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of the holding company of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(il The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each holding company, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(il One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

[iil  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(ivi  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued)
(bl (Continued)

(vl The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in {al.

(viil A person identified in (alli) has significant influence over the

entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viil The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(a)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
() dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic

partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the
associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative thresholds are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Other operating segments may be aggregated if
they share a maijority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and
are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
il Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management determines the estimated useful lives of the
Group's property, plant and equipment based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar
nature and functions. The estimated useful lives could be different
as a result of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2021
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The management determines whether the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are impaired when an indication of impairment
exists. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment, which is equal to the higher of fair
value less cost of disposal or the value in use. Estimating the value in
use requires the management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the property, plant and equipment and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets by using various inputs and
assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The
estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of trade receivables and contract
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

Revenue recognition from construction works

As explained in the paragraph headed “Revenue recognition” in Note
2, management measures the value of completed construction work
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurement of the value of construction works transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining construction works
promised to be completed under the construction contracts. Because
of the nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the
date at which the contract activity is entered into and the date when
the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting periods
and the scope of work may change during the construction period.
The management's estimate of revenue and the completion status
of construction works requires significant judgement and has a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognised.
The Group has the quantity surveyor to periodically measure the value
of the construction works completed for each construction project
and issue the interim payment applications. The construction works
performed by the Group would also be certified by the customers
periodically according fo the construction contracts. The management
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progress based on the
interim payment applications and the payment certificate issued by
the customers.

Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies

i)

Recognition of expenses for the Listing

The management of the Group determines the allocation and
classification of relevant costs incurred for Listing among (i) profit
or loss as listing expenses and (i) equity as a reduction of share
premium upon the capitalisation issue based on its judgement on
whether such costs are (i) costs for the Company to obtain the listing
status or (ii) incremental costs for the Company to raise additional
funds from the issue of new shares, respectively. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, costs attributable to issue of new shares
of approximately HK$32,935,000 (2020: Nil) were recognised in
equity as a reduction of share premium and costs attributable to
obtaining the listing status of approximately HK$5,679,000 (2020:
HK$18,136,000) were charged to profit or loss.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021

BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of approving the consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for

the years ended 31 March 2021, which the Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2!

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 20212

Proceeds before Intended Use 2
Cost of Fuffilling a Contract

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework *
2018-2020 Cycle

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current 4
Disclosure of Accounting Policies *

Definition of Accounting Estimates #

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a single
Transaction #

Insurance Contracts 4

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture °

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
5 The effective date to be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Future changes in HKFRSs (Continued)

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the adoption of the
new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group has only one
operating and reportable segment throughout the reporting periods, as
the Group manages its business as a whole as the provision of formwork
works services in Hong Kong and the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision-makers of the Group, regularly review
the internal financial reports on the same basis for the purposes of
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group. Segment
information is not presented accordingly.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal place
of the Group’s operation is in Hong Kong. All of the Group’s revenue from
external customers during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is
derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under common control)
individually accounting for 10% or more of aggregate revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

FEESHHBE#E)
EEMBHELERNRKES (&)

REEEIEE RN AR K ERAZ
SHE BT B M BRELENS
AEENPBRRETIGELENE

B2 488
FE o

7 EBE R

ARREFHEARENEERS B
BAES —EALERAZ2HDE - T
HRAEBEREEREBANEE
REBRRTRERS  MARBARITE
EAAREETELERRE) O
BREFEAEERBZARELE
HEAANBT B RS - Elt - EZ
S BREHE o

ARalB—REEERAR  AEE
CENTEMH AT AEER
HE_Z-_—Fh_F_FTF=H
= +—BLEFEMREINBEFHAT
BRAHKEEE MAEENE
BERBBHMURES -

FHEXEEFHNEHN

REBEE_ZE-_—FR-_ZT_ZTF=A
=+ —HIEFE - BRI RS BRI
A% A ENEF (BIEHEREHT
RER)FFBIT

2021 2020

—E-—F —T-THF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A ZEEA 145,667 68,643
Customer B ZFB 75,495 179,252
Customer C =FEC N/A 73 F NoteftfaE 71,063
Customer D =FD 72,201  N/AZR i Fg Nowels:
Customer E =PE 61,838  N/A i f Noteltfz
Customer F =FEF N/A 7 7 F NoteiEE 65,039

Note:  The customers contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group

for the reporting period.

B EE - pOsRE HART

ZEBPEMINAE

B 42 L A B9 10% ©
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= A
A

PR R R P AL

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

4.

REVENUE

4{a)

4(b)

4c)

Analysis of the Group’s revenue

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, all of the Group’s
revenue was arising from provision of formwork works services. All of
the Group’s revenue from provision of formwork works services was
recognised over time.

Performance obligation for contracts with customers

The Groups provides formwork works services to customers. The
revenue of such services is recognised over time as the Group
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
assets is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the value of completed construction
work using output method.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which the construction services are
performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights are conditioned upon the
satisfaction by the customers on the construction work completed
by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the
customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time
the Group obtains the certification of the completion construction
work from the customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) (upon taken
into account adjustments and variation orders) as at 31 March
2021 amounted to approximately HK$526,000,000 (2020:
HK$378,400,000). Management expects that all the remaining
performance obligations will be recognised as revenue ranging from
110 3 years from the end of the year (2020: 1to 3 years).
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PR R AR AL

Year ended 31 March 2021

BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

5. OTHER INCOME 5. HAmgA
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Gross rental from lease of metal scaffold HEERERBREEZTHY
equipment and related parts @ - 163
Gain on de-recognition of lease liabilities RIEHRAMERGERERE
and right-of-use assets, net BEMNNEFE - 21
Subsidy income Motel ARG A () 21,329 -
Others EHAh 129 77
21,458 261
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government Mz : REBEZ-_E-_—F=A=+-—

BILFE AEBBREBERT
@B TR (R ZEsT &
MIBEERMETE (REFE
E))WMEES  MABTE
B)#721,329,0008 L (ZZE =&
FoE) AKEEBERE
WEEZ S HB AR ERE
Rk s A ETE -

grants of approximately HK$21,329,000 (2020: Nil) in respect of anti-
epidemic fund (the “Employment Support Scheme” and “Employment
Support Scheme for the Construction Sector (Casual Employees)’) provided
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. In
the opinion of the management of the Group, there were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

6. BREBAAIEF

B ER (FEA) THI%IR

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(@)  Finance costs (@  BFESAAR
Inferest on lease liabilities HEBERE 81 65
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings STEEERNE 387 m
468 176
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e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. PBRFLANGEF (&)
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(b)  Salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus  (b) ¥ ~ J2AL - BIIBIEA K&
and other benefits in kind HEEMEF 319,455 229,872
Contributions to defined contribution plans TE R AT EI AR 10,096 7,244
Note P 5 329,551 237,116
2021 2020
—E=—F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
()  Otheritems (0 HMER
Auditor's remuneration 1% B 7 B 1,500 165
Cost of materials recognised as cost of TR A RIS A AN /Y
services M E AR 105,41 77,392
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERBETE
equipment (included in “cost of services” (GTATBRIE A ] &
and “administrative and other operating [TTH R E&EX
expenses”, as appropriate) (miEA)) 7,558 5,412
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BE R
equipment REHEE 15 -
(Reversal of) Provision for loss allowance B 5 R AR RS B E
for trade receivables (included in (Bm) B E GTATH R
administrative and other operating HMgEms)
expenses) (510) 1,096
(Reversal of) Provision for loss allowance BHEEEBRE
for contract assets (included in (B) B #E GT AT R
administrative and other operating Hipie g M)
expenses) (1,092) 1,053
Subcontracting fees recognised as cost of WRABRBEEN D BE
services 12,094 31,723
Short-term lease payments on premises MERHRBEENKGIA
lincluded in “cost of services” and [ARAERA | R [1THBUR
“administrative and other operating Hp&zm | (WEA))
expenses”, as appropriate) = 584
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, total staff costs of HK$321,008,000 Ma: REE-—F-—F=A=1—

(2020: HK$230,515,000) were included in the cost of services. The remaining
staff costs were recognised in administrative and other operating expenses.
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Year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLHEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 7. EZBRBSTBRAEME
Certain directors of the Company received remuneration from the entities RAARMETESHE-TS-_—FK
now comprising the Group during the years ended 31 March 2021 and TE-TF-ZA=Z+—HIFEEH
2020 for their appointment as employees of these entities. The aggregate WFEKAEENERBNNEER
amounts of remuneration received and receivable by the directors of the ERZEEBEENTH -AE_ZT
Company during the years ended 31 Mach 2021 and 2020 are set out T RZIFEZFEF=A=+—HL
below. FE -ARRESEREERFTMO
BeBHEINMOT -
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-ZE--SZA=Z1+—-HLFE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefitsin  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
E e A=
REHAM ERMR
EEHWE EMEA BIETEA  FEIMNER st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTAT TET TAET FTHET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung NoreV 22 {F 45 2fp A (3D - 1,800 - 18 1,818
Mr. Leung Wing Chun Nole?) 22 88 3 Sz A (Hii2) - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi MNole2 22 2836 S A (Hik2) - 960 - 18 978
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung Mle? 2R {4356 4 4 (4152 - 1,440 - 18 1,458

Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang Nle® & {7 95 4 (1559 60 - - - 60

Independent non-executive B FEHITES

directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu e4 AR Jk 5 A 14 125 - - = 125
Mr. Ng Lin Fung Metes! 238 4 o A (ES) 125 = - - 125
Mr. Chu Hau Lim Mefes! R 2 PR St HE () 75 - - - 75
Mr. Leung Ka Ho Moes! R R 5 g S 60 - - - 60

445 5,160 = 72 5,677

FEEERBERAR 5202021 115
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (conTiNuED) 7. BEEBRBRETHRAEMNE (&)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-E-EF=A=+-HLHFE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefitsin  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees kind bonus plans Total
e R
R E At RN
EE 2k EWEF BISMEAL  FTEIMER fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Leung Yam Cheung Mol Z24E# 5 4 (HE) - 1,500 - 18 1,518
Mr. Leung Wing Chun WNore2l 20 883 5 A (Hii22) - 884 - 18 902
Mr. Leung Wing Hoi Noe2 2248365 5 A (i) - 884 - 18 902
Mr. Cheung Kit Hung Mele? 5 {4 8 5 A (i=2) - 1,248 - 18 1,266
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yau Sheung Hang Mot BT 18] 5 A (i) - — - — -
Independent non-executive B EFHITES
director
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Note 4] ME Jk 5 A (Hixa) - — - - -
- 4,516 - 72 4,588
Nofte: izt :
1. Mr. Leung Yam Cheung was appointed as a director of the Company on 31 1. REFERER T -NFRA=T—

May 2019 and re-designated as an executive director of the Company on 4

November 2019.

2. Mr. Leung Wing Chun, Mr. Leung Wing Hoi and Mr. Cheung Kit Hung were
appointed as executive directors of the Company on 4 November 2019.

3. Mr. Yau Sheung Hang was appointed as a non-executive director of the

Company on 4 November 2019.

4. Mr. Lam Kwong Siu was appointed as an independent non-executive director

of the Company on 4 November 2019.

5. Mr. Ng Lin Fung, Mr. Chu Hau Lim and Mr. Leng Ka Ho were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on 7 September 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Cheung Kit Hung is the chief executive officer of the Group, and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by him
as chief executive officer during the reporting period.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of these directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years is as
follows:

7.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

EBENRBESTHRAEME (&)

REBTER/AEEITERAR AR
REXEBRNHHEBRENHRSHME
EETHAMEERGNME -

HE-_Z-—FR=-FT-_FF=A
=+ —BHLFE AEEBER T
WEEELZFME - EARSIHEEM
AN &R B 1) A2 B ok BE B A 1E o
BHE_Z-—FRk=-FT_FF=H
—t+t—HLEFE MEFENEIR
BEMEEWIFT ML -

TE&ESHFMAL

RER DEZRSHFMA LSO :

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEHF
Director 5% 2 4
Non-director JFES 3 1
5 5

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-director
individuals are as follows:

LR FHIFESALTHHFHFBT
™

2021 2020

—EZ—F —EETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind #4285 & H B Y43 7 4,298 872
Contributions to defined contribution plans TR RGT S Bk 54 14
4,352 886

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED) 8.

The number of these non-director individuals whose emoluments fell within
the following emoluments band is as follows:

EEBEEHFMAL

HEFEEATHHEN F TN
BEEIM AT

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—EZ-F —EEF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T, 21,500,000 74 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 fo HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T Z 2,000,000 7% 7T 2 -
3 1

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no remuneration were
paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-director individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation
for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any of these
highest paid non-director individuals waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

HE_Z-_—FR-_ZT-_FTF=A
Z+—BLFE AEERERTR
hEERFHFEESATIMNEHN £
ﬁwaﬁWMA&MAKEl%mﬁ
B ERmE - HE T —F K=
T-EF=ZRA=+—HILFE #HE
TAHEESHIIEEEAIHESE
B ERETMBES L -

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. FBBiIRAX
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax BOERBL 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax BTG
— current year —KREEZ 9,335 11,824
— over provision in prior year —RAFEBEEE (36) -
Deferred tax IEERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TR EENEEREE
differences (Note 20) (Mt5E20) - (968)
Income tax expenses PTS B X 9,299 10,856
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e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 9. FEBEX#E)
The Group entities established in the in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are RASHEREBREXHSK AR
exempted from income tax. EEEBEREINEABEH -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime with effect from the year of BEE_T—NF /T NFRH
assessment 201872019, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of FEREINMRFNERG & ER
qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and the assessable profits above R ERTUR T # E 2,000,000 7T HY
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of entities FSFE R X155 8.25% + B i# 2,000,000
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be B ITH ERBE M IR16.5%E N - B
taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, Hong Kong B ERT RN WS MRS
profits tax of a subsidiary of the Group is calculated in accordance with the HEESK - BB EIZT F16.5% K o
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. HE-_ZT-_—GFR-ZF-_FTF=H
=t+t—HLEFE AEE-HWEBEAR
A E B FIE TR R R A ST S

P
=T HE o

Reconciliation of income tax expenses RS A R
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Profit before tax B 50 Al g A1) 69,907 48,862
Income tax at applicable income tax rate REAMSHHRETENREH 11,534 8,062
Non-deductible expenses AR B 2 1,161 2,992
Tax exempt revenue R (3,789) -
Tax concession T = (175) (225)
Over provision in prior year MEFERERE (36) -
Unrecognised tax losses RIERTIBE R 406 -
Others HAh 198 27
Income tax expenses PS B I X 9,299 10,856

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

10.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the following GRREARBF LA T 2R
data:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Profit: A
Profit atiributable to owners of the Company PAN/NSIE P DN L il
(HK$'000) (T#7T) 60,608 38,006
Number of shares: ROEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %17 & i A% A1 4E - 15 81
in issue (000 (FB%) 1,401,644 1,200,000
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose RARFTETRERRBT 2 L@k inE
of calculating basic earnings per share was on the basis as if the FHETHEMEERRE AT (M
Reorganisation and Capitalisation Issue (Note 21) had been effective on 1 H2DERZE-NFMA-—BAERE
April 2019. JE ©
Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings per share as HREE_S - —FR_ZFTF=
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the A=+—RI-FEfEETaEINgGS
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. BAELEER WEREERFNEAGR
EARBRFMER -
1. DIVIDENDS n KR

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect for
the year ended 31 March 2021(2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLHEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 1% BERK®B
Metal
scaffold
equipment
and Furniture
Right-of-use related and Computer

assefs parts fixtures Decoration equipment Total
E LS
R R

EREEE HBRZH  HRREE k& BlRE Mt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TAET TAT TAT

(Note 12(al)
(Fft3E12(a))
Reconciliation of carrying  BRE{E ¥ BR—
amount - 31 March —E"EF
2020 ZA=+-H
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—H 600 9,841 39 450 14 10,944
Additions RE 1,993 - 3 15 7 2,018
Disposal e (359) - - - - (359)
Depreciation e 649) (4,684) (14) (58) (7) (5,412)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-EF
=A=+-8 1,585 5,157 28 407 14 7,191
Reconcilition of carrying ~ BRE{EHIBR—
amount - 31 March —E--F
2021 ZA=1+-H
At April 2020 R-ZE-_ZENA—H 1,585 5,157 28 407 14 7,191
Additions RE 919 44,493 100 410 = 45,852
Disposal e - - - 15) - [15)
Depreciation e (962) (6,446) (25) (121 4) (7,558)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-%
=B=t+-8 1,542 43,134 103 681 10 45,470
At 31 March 2020 RZE_EF
=A=1+—H
Cost A 2,183 23,253 73 640 33 26,182
Accumulated depreciation 23T E (598) 18,096 (45) (233) 19 18,991)
1,585 5,157 28 407 14 7,091
At 31 March 2021 RZB--&
=ZA=1+-H
Cost B 3,102 55,700 173 1,035 33 60,043
Accumulated depreciaion  2FHTE (1,560) (12,566) (70) (354) (23) (14,573)
1,542 43,134 103 681 10 45,470

FEEERRARAR 5202021 121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
12(a) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying assets is as

12.

M BERRE @)

12(a) EREEE

RIEHEED BNEREEERN

follows: DWIAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Offices e 845 329
Warehouses B 697 1,256
1,542 1,585
The analysis of expense items in relation to right-of-use assets RiEmREREAEHEEER BN
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: FXIEERSTIAT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FFAEEEMNITEE R
Offices MAE 403 265
Warehouses B 559 384
962 649

The Group’s right-of-use assets represents leases of various offices

AEENEREEERAREAR
LEHEZEALNEENRAE
LRE BN FR-—E=F-
HEGRIZERNELERER LB
=LA R R 1 - HE
I e pEAT 2255 -

and warehouses located in Hong Kong for its daily operations
and with lease terms ranging from 1to 3 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain similar terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.

122
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13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

13. B 5 BUWERRNR H A FE W BR =X

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZEF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Bt FHET FHET
Trade receivables of construction works 5 T2 28 5 EIWNERR 219,852 143,985
Less: Allowance for ECL B EEEEEERE 13(b) (4,984) (5,494)
13(a) 214,868 138,491

Other receivables Hith FE W BR X
Deposits and other receivables 2o K H fth AR 3K 570 497
Prepayment for listing expenses XA = 710
Prepayment to suppliers 1) 14 JE P TR K 14,273 2,600
Other prepaid expenses HER X 352 608
15,195 4,415
230,063 142,906

13(a) Trade receivables of construction works

The Group would normally require the customers to certify the
construction works completed and make payments within 35 to 45
days from the date of issuance of the Group’s payment applications.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for ECL)
based on the date of issuance of the Group’s payment applications
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

1B(a) BETEE S BUIRM

AEBEBEERLEFPZBRETK
BEETRE YR AKEZEHM
FERGEZ AL 35 E 45 AR o

RBEHR  ERAEEHE LA
R B HIAE 5 WORR (40
BRIEHEERBERE) VKK D

i UNNE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 30 days 30K - -
31to 60 days 31260 H 43,061 59,976
61to 90 days 61290 H 45,413 31,391
Over 90 days but less than 1year BRI BER—FN 112,351 46,715
Over 1year HAA—F 14,043 409
214,868 138,491

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

13.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 13.

13(a) Trade receivables of construction works (Continued)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks for trade
receivables is included in Note 26.

At the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables (net of allowance by ECL) by due date is as follows:

B 7 B WBR R K H At FE I AR X

(&)
Blo) BETEEZBWIRMR (&)

B RSB B E 5 e YRR b
MIEERBRER NI E26 -

RERSHR ZNMEHEZRE
WERR (iR EEEBE R E)
HBERER DM

2021 2020

—E--F —_EEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Not yet due KE)HR 7,780 16,420
Past due: BER

Within 30 days 30BN 41,769 56,303

3110 60 days 31260H 52,677 20,142

6110 90 days 61290 H 38,689 18,125

Over 90 days but less than 1year B RER—FN 60,026 27,092

Over 1year BB —F 13,927 409

207,088 122,071

214,868 138,491

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade receivables.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE

13.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 13. BEZEWRM KR E M-I ERMK

13(b) Allowance for ECL

The movement in the provision for loss allowance for trade

(%)

13b) FHEEGHRRE

B 5 i R R R B R

receivables is as follows: E N
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period MRS H ) 5,494 4,398
[Reversal of) provision for loss allowance EERE (L) B E (510) 1,096
At the end of the reporting period R E B 4,984 5,494
14. CONTRACT ASSETS 4. EHNEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Analysed as current: DB RE :
Unbilled revenue of construction works RABRETRRA 44,389 101,288
Retention money receivables of construction BETEEKRE S
works 48,016 42,672
92,405 143,960
Less: Allowance for ECL B EEMEEBERE (46) (1,138)
92,359 142,822
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NoTes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l‘/T\

BB AR

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

14.  CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to
receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed because the rights
are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the construction
works completed by the Group and the works are pending for the certification
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the
Group obtains the certification of the completion construction works from the
customers.

Retention money receivables included in contfract assets represents the
Group’s right fo receive consideration for work performed because the rights
are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance
by the Group on the service quality of the construction works performed by the
Group.

The movement (excluding those arising from increase and decrease both
occurred within the same year) of contract assets from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

14.

(ii)

(iii)

EREETFHNRAERAELREE
BB ST IE AR EMIREKER
BOEFR  REREBEENAFER
MEREBE TR RETRE A
EBEEREBIRALEFPRE &1
BEERENKSEGRER ATEAXNR
EEHEREPNBEERTIEEIREN
wuuAET)ﬁgiﬁé %%TWEETA°

BHNEETHREKRE %h$§@
WELHWI&WW&FW%%
ALSEHRNARETEPRA 7%&
ENETHEASRBEERER®
FAMEE  BHEERENR BRI
i CBE R ARE R EETHRE
TIRBRTSE SRR E IR E W)
BREEHEBIRK -

WA E B RS ENFI55H
REZEPEHNEEZES (TR
IT EFWFizi‘bD&ﬁyﬁﬁ%I

""""" gE))m
2021 2020
—EBE--F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period R & EY 142,822 119,252
Transfer fo trade receivables BREE S EWIRR (116,536) (95,775)
Recognition of revenue Wz TR 64,981 120,398

Reversal of (Increase in) provision of impairment 7 & E5 18 & {5 % a1 (1% 4n)

loss 1,092 (1,053)
At the end of the reporting period R HA R 92,359 142,822

14(a) Expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract

assets

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle. At 31
March 2021, the unbilled revenue and retention money receivables
included in the contract assets that are expected to be recovered
after more than 12 months are approximately HK$25,149,000 (2020:
HK$30,343,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

14.  CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 4. EREE®E
14(b) Allowance for ECL 14(b) FEEREER B RE
The movement in the provision for loss allowance for contract assets BREAEBEREBNBREBEZS N
is as follows: N
2021 2020
—E-F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHIT
At the beginning of the reporting period RS H ) 1,138 85
(Reversal of) Provision for loss allowance EE R () #E (1,092) 1,053
At the end of the reporting period & EAR 46 1,138
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks for contract FAAREERENEE@RNG
assets is included in Note 26. B B B R R B R 26 ©
CONTRACT COSTS 15. BHBA
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT T
Cost fo fulfil contracts: BRI :
Materials ¥ 4,053 2,439

Contract costs capitalised relate to materials acquired to be used in
satisfying or continuing fo satisfy performance obligations of respective
construction contracts in the future. Contract costs are recognised as part
of cost of services in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year in which revenue from the related
construction contracts is recognised.

BAENEOMANERRABRETH
EERTSEEANNBENREME
ERMRBOT I ERE - & KRAR
AEEREESNKRAFARGRE
= N E b 2 E IR AR R AR K
KE)—BD e

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21

127



128

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

16.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

16. B BRI N H AR IR

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FHET
Trade payables B 5 ETIR™X 16(a) 10,471 76,025
Other payables H A AT BRX
Salaries and other employee benefits B 3B & H b (g B 18 7
payables 34,390 52,374
Accruals and other payables Note (i) FEFT 2 F &k H b FE S BR 3K
(BE() 2,987 4,185
37,377 56,559
47,848 132,584
Note (il: At 31 March 2020, the amount included accrued listing expenses of MizE: RZZE-_FTF=RA=+—H &

approximately HK$2,873,000.

16(a) Trade payables

The trade payables are non-interest bearing and the Group is
normally granted with credit term up to 90 days.

At the end of the year, the ageing analysis of the trade payables
based on invoice date is as follows:

& £ R S B HE I8 49 2,873,000
HTT o

16(a) & 5 BT IR

BHRNERRRE  MAKE
—RERRZIOHMEED -

RER ERERZAMNEZE
MR REDITAT

2021 2020

—E-—F ZEETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAET

Within 60 days 60 H A 5,544 75,985
6110 90 days 61%£90 H 3,337 -
Over 90 days H#iE90H 1,590 40
10,471 76,025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLHEE

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS STEEE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current i
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand BB R EKIFHEE 2
clause RITIE K 42,135 15,100

On 15 November 2019, the Group entered info a credit facility with a bank
for an aggregate amount of HK$10,000,000 that was secured by personal
guarantees given by certain directors and senior management of the
Company. On 20 November 2019, the Group had drawn down a term loan
with principal amount of HK$5,000,000 maturing in May 2021 and bears
interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR”) plus 3% per annum.

On 11 February 2020, the Group was granted a tax loan from the bank with
principal amount of approximately HK$11,821,000 that was secured by
personal guarantees given by certain directors and senior management
of the Company. The tax loan bears interest at HIBOR plus 1.5% per annum
and is fully repayable in August 2021.

The above personal guarantees was released and replaced by a corporate
guarantee provided by the Company upon the Listing.

On 2 February 2021, the Group had drawn down a term loan from the bank
with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 maturing in February 2022 and
bears interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum. The term loan was guaranteed
by the Company.

On 11 March 2021, the Group had drawn down a revolving loan from the
bank with principal amount of HK$19,900,000 maturing in June 2022 and
bear interest at 2.67% per annum. The revolving loan was guaranteed by
the Company.

The weighted average effective interest rate on the interest-bearing
borrowings is 3.8% (2020: 4.8%) per annum.

RZE—hhF+—B+EHHE A5£H
0 —IR1T5] 3 — 5 42 %4 410,000,000
BILTHMEERE HIAAQaET
EEREREEAENEAABRRER
- RZE-—NF+—B=Z+H &K
SEIREUE i A £ 5,000,000 7T
ER - - —FHAFHNKRESLR
TRERE ((EBRTEZERED M
3%HVFEFEREE »

R-Z-_ZF_A+—H AEEHE
A& FL /R1,821,0008 T HIEE
P HDAARRRETEERSRE
A BB EAERERT - HIEER
WA IRTT R 7B 001.5% B 6 7
HBWER-ZZE=-—F )\ AREEE -

b A A FE R BB £ IR AR BRI B AR
NERENERERRE -

RZE-—F-A-H AEEHH
FTIRELE A ' 5 A € 20,000,000 % 7T -
ER T - —F - AR REEER
TRIZERB M3 FHMEREE - & TE
HERAARRFMERER -

R-ZE-_—F=ZA+—HB AEEA
fRITIRENME IR B A 419,900,000 %8
T HERZZE__FRNAHBERE
2.67% KV FFI LB - ZBREFAN
DEIVEFELR o

STEEEZNRTFHERANEAESE
38%(ZZT_TF : 48%) °

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

17.

18.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 17.

Interest-bearing borrowings of HK$42,135,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$15,100,000), with a clause in their terms that gives the lender an
overriding right to demand repayment without notice or with notice period
of less than 12 months at its sole discretion, are classified as current
liabilities even though the directors do not expect that the lenders would
exercise their rights to demand repayment.

Analysis of the amount due based on scheduled payment dates set out
in the loan agreement (ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand
clause) is as follow:

STEEE @)

R -_—F=A=+—H 8%
B 5421350008 L (Z 2 2 F
15,100,000/ 8 7T) - HABE —KEE
BRETEEABLEURTERMN
SOR+ZEABMBHER T2
HEERBEEE BEZSHEHE
BEATETHEEERNZERKEE B
BETEREARDAEE -

A RA B BHS BT RR
B (PR ETREREE P E)
mF -

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 22,235 1,182
In the second year £ 19,900 3,918
42,135 15,100

At 31 March 2021, the Group has unutilised banking facilities of
HK$20,100,000 (2020: HK$5,000,000)

AMOUNT DUE TO THE ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 18.

The amount due is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. Such amount was fully seftled prior to the Listing.

Skymission Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR AR RE

Year ended 31 March 2021

BE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHLFE

LEASES LIABILITIES 19. HEAE

The Group as lessee: AEEEREREA :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FAET
Current portion mENE S 1,122 601
Non-current portion ERBE D 476 1,004
1,598 1,605

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

ARBERFABIUTREA

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Lease payments: HERK
Short-term leases RAEHEE - 584
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIERERNFA T - 584
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR 926 623
Interest expenses FEFX 81 65
Total cash outflow for leases HER &M AR 1,007 1,272

The Group discounted lease payment using its incremental borrowing rate

of 5% (2020: 5%).

ARER B A ELR IR A8 R K 5% B3R TE

ERHR(ZBBE : 5%) -

KELEIERAR AR F3k 2020/21



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20. R IA
The following is the analysis of recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) for MUBHREMES U TAEEREE
financial reporting purposes: MIBAE (BB O :
Assets Liabilities
EE =N
2021 2020 2021 2020

:g:_ﬂi —7— f‘E :g:—ﬂi —7— E'E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TETT FET TET

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EEHIBEEE (BE) 4,492 357 (4,294) (159)
Offsetting Ci (4,135) - 4,135 -

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  ELEHRBEEE (BE)

FEE 357 357 (159) (159)
The following is the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and UTARE8ZE-_Z_—Fk= g - % $
movements thereon during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020: “A=T-HALFENEERE

ERBEEE(RR) REEZE)

Tax Depreciation
losses ECL  allowances Total
FEH
HIEFEE FEFE ITERE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET FAET
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=H
=+t—H - - (770) (770)
Credit to profit or loss FFAER - 357 611 968
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-_ZTF = )EJ
=t+—HRZZZ=EF
mAE—H - 357 (159) 198
Credit (Charge) to profit or loss AR E) 1B 4,135 - (4,135) -
RZTEZ—F=A8
At 31 March 2021 =+—H 4,135 357 (4,294) 198
The Group has not recognised tax losses of HK$2,461,000 (2020: HK$ Nil 7N 55 [ 3 f B SR 0 TH /g 18 2,461,0008
as deferred tax assets as it is not probable that sufficient profits will be T(ZE2EZZFF T RELERIE
available to allow the tax losses to be utilised in the foreseeable future. The BE RAEAANA RARKSKAGE
tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. B N RB) IR IEE 1B - BIRIRAT

WHED] - TIE R R i HIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

SHARE CAPITAL 21. I
Number of
shares Amount
RO B &%
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREENBITNEBER Note HK$'000
B E FHET
Authorised: ERE
A1 April 2019 RZE—NFEA—H - -
At incorporation A REM A S B 21(a) 38,000,000 380
At 31 March 2020 RZE-_TEF=A=+—H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital A TE B AN AN 21(c) 3,962,000,000 39,620
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—-¥=H=+—H 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRHAR:
A1 April 2019 RZE—NFEA—H - -
At incorporation N R IDAVALSS 21(a) 1 —*
Issue of shares pursuant to RIFEHZETRGD
the Reorganisation 21(b) 1,099 —*
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF=A=+—H 1,100 —*
Issue of shares pursuant to the Share R IE IR 15 88 & 8217 D
Offer 21(e) 400,000,000 4,000
Issue of shares pursuant fo the BEERNMEBFITEITRG
Capitalisation Issue 21(d) 1,199,998,900 12,000
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—-H¥=ZHF=+—H 1,600,000,000 16,000

* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

RESFL 00078 7T -

21(a) The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 31 May 2019. Upon its
incorporation, the authorised share capital of HK$380,000 was
divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each and 1
ordinary share with a par value of HK$0.01 was ultimately issued to
and paid up by Sky Mission Group Limited.

2l0) ARRIRZE—NEFRA=+—
BrAESHFEaMK Y /AR
MEeEBRAR - NEFMAK L
% KX TE M A380,000 T B
38,000,000 % F f& H 1E0.017& 7T
REBER - B1REENE T
HEBREEBAREERERA
RIBITRERE -

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

21. SHARE CAPITAL ([CONTINUED) 2. R (4#)

21(b) BIBH =B —NE+— A=+

21(b) Pursuant to the Reorganisation completed on 26 November 2019

(subject to the increase in authorised share capital of the Company
as set out below), the Company became the holding company
of the entities now comprising the Group. Further details of the
changes in authorised and issued share capital of the Company
since its incorporation are set out in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” of the Prospectus.

21(c) Pursuant to the resolution in writing of the Company’s shareholders

passed on 7 September 2020, inter-alia, the authorised share
capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares of par value of HK$0.01 each to HK$40,000,000
divided into 4,000,000,000 shares of par value of HK$0.01 each
by the creation of an additional 3,962,000,000 shares and the
Capitalisation Issue (as defined below) was conditionally approved.

21(d) Pursuant to the resolution in writing of the Company’s shareholders

passed on 7 September 2020, subject to the share premium account
of the Company being credited as a result of the offering of the
Company's shares, the directors of the Company were authorised
to allot and issue a fotal of 1,199,998,900 shares of HK$0.01 each
to the existing shareholders, credited as fully paid at par by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$11,999,989 standing to be credit of the
share premium account of the Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”)
and the shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this resolution
shall carry the same rights as all shares in issue (save for the right to
participate in the Capitalisation Issue). The Capitalisation Issue was
fully completed on 29 September 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL [CONTINUED)

21(e) On 29 September 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 400,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at HK$0.35 per share by way of
share offer ("Share Offer”). The gross proceeds from the Share Offer
amounted to HK$140,000,000. The expenses attributable to issues of
shares pursuant to the Share Offer of approximately HK$32,935,000
were recognised in the share premium account of the Company.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE

PR ()

2Qe) RZE=_FEFNA=-_+ 18"

KRR ZBMNEZRER L
W WARHEE ((RHEE])
HFRIEERBEEIS B LT
400,000,000 fi% &F % 1 {£ 0.0178 7T
RFTEBR BRHOHBEENMER
TH 48 %8 /140,000,000 78 7T © 1R &
A% 17 B & BT D IR MR S 4
32,935,000 7T 2 A AN A Bl AR 9
wERP R o

22. RESERVES 22. %%

22(a)Share Premium 22(a)i2 12 B E

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value. Under the laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association,
it is distributable to the Company’s shareholders provided that the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

22(b)Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate amount of the
issued and paid-up share capital of the entities now comprising the
Group before completion of the Reorganisation less consideration
paid to acquire the relevant interests (if any) in relation to the
Reorganisation.

B tn i (B HE 31T AR 2 B B P
SREFEBLHEEENRD
RRFERE A RARENE
BERARN ERARQRRR
Dk EARBAMNEAREE
B e E HER -

22(b) EAfE R

REBOENFE R REKE
SENEENEHTKATHE
TRERBRARRE  RERKRE
BREMANHERERS (WA NS
NHRE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

23. CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 23. K& (FTA)MBRE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit before tax B % AT S A 69,907 48,862
Adjustments for: AT EIBELAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - /= MR BITE 7,558 5,412
Finance costs B 75 X AR 468 176
Gain on de-recognition of lease liabilitesand ~ #X [FHERAEBE R
right-of-use assets, net EAEEEN KT FRR - (21)
(Reversal of) Provision for impairment losson & 5 JE UK BR Z A RUE 5 18 (B [E))
trade receivables, net R (510) 1,096
(Reversal of) Provision for impairment losson & 4B ERBERKE (BE) B EF
contract assets, net L (1,092) 1,053
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREENERE
equipment 15 -
Operating cash flows before movement in EEEREHINLERS
working capital = 76,346 56,578
Change in working capital LEERE
Increase in frade and other receivables B 5) e W AR SR K B A e s AR SR
hill (86,647) (126,996)
Decrease (Increase) in contract assets BHREERL (EM) 51,555 (24,623)
Increase in contract costs B KK AN AN (1,614) (2,439)
(Decrease) Increase in trade and other B 5 FEAT BR 5% R Ho At FE - BR 3K
payables Ok 2>) 180 (84,736) 103,426
Cash (used in) generated from operations e (FrR) isER & (45,096) 5,946
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(a)

(b)

24. RELATED PARTY/CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 24. BHS  BEXRS
Related party transactions () BAEERB
The Group has following related party transactions during the years AEERBE_Z-_—FK=F
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020: “EF=ZA=T—HLEFEEFNA
TR AR S :
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Rental expenses relevant to a short-term H— AR AGI L EENBREE
lease entered info with a group of lessors ~ WIFE&FIS - &b - A QA
in which a director of the Company and EERARAS—HEEZZ
certain family members of another ETREKERBBREE
director of the Company have ownership % & Fr A #E#E %5
interest in an underlying asset - 200
Repayment of lease liabilitiesto a group of M—4#HBAEERESE
lessors in which a director of B ARAIEERARA]
the Company and certain family H—REBZETRKKE
members of another director of the MM EEREAREER
Company have ownership interest in
an underlying asset 435 244
Remuneration for key management personnel (including b) FAEBXEEEAS(BREE
directors) of the Group ) #
2021 2020
—B-—F —TFTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e ERIREMEYER
in kind 7,497 6,159
Discretionary bonus BB TEAT - 151
Contributions to defined contribution plans & 8 fit ZX 5121 69 7% 126 152
7,623 6,462
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 7. EHEEEH MM E —PFBEHR
BEE7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

25. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 25. BEREWHMER
(@ Major non-cash transactions ) FEFRLXH
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group entered HE_Z-_—FR-_ZT_FF
into lease arrangements in respect of right-of-use assets with a “A=1+—HIFE KxEER
total capital value at the inception of the leases of approximately HERBKRETNLEDNOR
HK$919,000 and HK$1,993,000 respectively. 919,000 % 7t 51,993,000 % JT &Y
CRAEEET CHEZH -
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) HMEFTHELENEEHR
The movements in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing PN l%ﬂ;ﬁiﬁ@]?iﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁf\@
activities during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as BT —FRIFFF=H
follows: =+—RIEFENEESHOT
Non-cash changes
FREEH
Additions to
property, De-recognition
At 1 April Net plant and oflease At 31March
2020 cash flows equipment liabilities 2021
RZE-ZF ReRE HENE. HILER R-E=-F
mA—A B BERRE %‘E g8 =ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TR FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-E-_-&
ZA=t-HLEFE
Due fo the Ultimate Controlling Parly & (¥ & 4242 % 77 578 174 (174) - - -
Inferest-bearing borrowings HEEE 15,100 27,035 = = 42,135
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,605 (926) 919 - 1,598
16,879 25,935 919 - 43,733
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHLFE

25. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 25. BERENEMER (&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) METHELENAEEHIRZ)
(Continued)
Non-cash changes
3E38 4 1
Additions to
property, De-recognition

At April Net plant and oflease At 31March
2019 cash flows equipment liabilifies 2020
—nE Beng AEDE: BIERR R-ZT-TF
mA—A FHE O BERR HE&fE ZA=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THT FTET THEL THET THEL

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_Z-TF

=A=1- EEEF
Due fo the Ultimate Controlling Party & & 4842 % 75 8 706 (532 - - 174
Inferest-bearing borrowings HEEE - 15,100 - - 15,100
Lease liabilifies HEBE 615 623) 1,993 (380) 1,605
1,321 13,945 1,993 (380) 16,879
26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26. MKEKEREBERBER

The Group’s financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables,
contract assets, bank balances and cash, frade and other payables, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing borrowings and amount due to the Ultimate
Controlling Party. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

AEEMNSRTABEE SRR
MEMEWEER  AHEE  RITHE
HERE  BHEMERREMENS

BR 7K EEAL AT EE A R E R
Eﬂ% HBE-ZESRMITAMGT
ﬁREW?$ﬁE BHZESHM
Iﬂmﬂ N2 AR {R] % BE 7% 25 3 e 9 IR
RENTX - AEBEEEEERERE
RZERE - MR KA E B
B o
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e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26, BIEMEEBERBER(#)

[CONTINUED)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written
risk management policies and guidelines. However, the management
meet regularly and co-operate closely with key management to identify
and evaluate risks and generally adopt conservative strategies on its risk
management and limit the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum
as follows:

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates
primarily to the Company’s bank balances and cash and interest-bearing
borrowings. The Company’s policy is to manage its inferest cost using the
source of funds with the most favourable terms and better monitor its cash
flow by eliminating unnecessary finance costs.

Sensitivity analysis has not been disclosed because the directors consider
that any reasonable changes in interest rates would not have a significant
impact on the results and equity of the Group for the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an
obligation. The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of impairment
losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking into
account the value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
confract assets and bank balances and cash.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group monitored on
an ongoing basis and follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In this regard, the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. Credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.

At 31 March 2021, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 33% (2020: 52%) of the total trade receivables and contract
assets was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor, and approximately
82% (2020: 97%) of the total frade receivables and contract assets was due
from the Group’s five largest trade debtors.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of customers and
the trade receivables and contract assets are categorised by common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets and recognises loss allowances based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date and has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The expected loss
rate used in the provision matrix is calculated for each category based on
actual credit loss experience over the expected lives of the trade receivables
and contract assets and adjusted for current and forward-looking factors
to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives
of the financial assets. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

26.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26. IERAEKMEEEERBEK®)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued) Bt 4EP)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers BSRWERREFPENEENERN
(Continued) BEE)
The information about the exposure 1o credit risk for frade receivables and FRBBREELANEBRE ZEIER
confract assets using a provision matrix is summarised below: FREHNEEFERRNERNT :

Gross  Impairment

Average carrying loss Credit-

loss rate amounts allowance impaired
WERE

FHERE REALE BB FERE

HK$000 HK$000
TERT TiERT

At 31 March 2021 R-ZEZ-5=ZF=+—H
Trade receivables B 5 IR K
— Not past due — 3 % 380 B 0.05% 7,784 (4) No £
— Less than 30 days past due —EmHL R 30H 0.05% 41,790 (21) No #&
— 3110 60 days past due —mHI31E 60 H 0.05% 52,703 (26) No &
— 6110 90 days past due —EH61E 90 H 0.27% 38,794 (105) No &
— Past due over 90 days but —# AR M 90 BB

less than 1year NS 0.27% 60,189 (163) No &
—Past due over 1year (Note (i)~ — 0 ER#B 3814 (M=% (i) 25.09% 18,592 (4,665) Yes B
Total trade receivables (Note 13) & 5 JE W B 5048 58 (F47113) 219,852 (4,984)
Contract assets (Note 14 S HREE (FisE14) 0.05% 92,405 (46) No £

312,257 (5,030)
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26. MHEMEEEERBEK#®)
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued) S8Rk (E)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from confracts with customers BORWERREFPENEENERN
(Continued) BEE)

Gross  Impairment

Average carrying loss Credit-

loss rate amounts allowance impaired
WIEE R

FYFBEEX  RELE i =& RE

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET

At 31 March 2020 R-ZZEB-ZEBF=B=+—H
Trade receivables B 5 W AR
— Not past due — 3 % 60 HA 0.79% 16,551 (131) No £&
— Less than 30 days past due —# 30 A 0.79% 56,752 (449) No £&
— 3110 60 days past due —#Hf31E 60 H 0.79% 20,303 (161) No £
— 6110 90 days past due —BHI61E 90 H 0.79% 18,269 (144) No £&
— Past due over 90 days but —m EiHEA90 A 1B
less than 1year S 0.79% 27,308 (216) No #&
- Past due over Tyear (Note (i) — % ER&B 814 (MI&E () 91.48% 4,802 (4,393) Yes &
Total trade receivables (Note 13) & 5 JE W AR x40 58 (FMH3113) 143,985 (5,494)
Contract assets (Note 14) BHREE (FIsE14) 0.79% 143,960 (1,138) No &
287,945 (6,632)
Note (i): Included credit-impaired (but not purchased or originated) of HK$4,390,000 sl : R—ZE-—F=A=+—HBHE
at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$4,390,000). ERE(BIFBERRE) B

$54,390,0008 T (Z T T F :
4,390,000/ 7T) °

*EEERRERAR £5 202021 143
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Company’s other financial assets carried at amortised cost include
bank balances and cash and other receivables in the consolidated
statements of financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on the 12-month
expected credit loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion of
lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after the reporting date.
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss. Management considered the bank balances and cash and other
receivables are determined to have low credit risk as counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near

ferm.

The majority of the Company’s bank balances are deposited in major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-performance by

these counterparties.

Therefore, the Company has assessed that the expected credit losses for
these financial assets carried at amortised cost were insignificant under
12-month expected credit loss method, and therefore no provision was

recognised.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant

assumptions made during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=1+—RLLEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26. MHEMEEEERBEK#®)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk RENE LM
Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient level of cash AEBEEREESEARFEHKTHNER
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and expected e RESEEY UAKASENESR
expansion. The Group’s primary cash requirements include payments for RIERERREHRES AEENEE
operating expenses and additions or upgrades of property, plant and REBREELERT - ABIWE -
equipment. The Group finances its working capital requirements mainly by V% &3P ﬁ& R REBEE
the funds generated from operations. MEEIERRMEHEEEER
= o
The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of each reporting REBRSHRERARENREH KRB
period based on contractual undiscounted payments are summarised NROEITESRBESMREOT -
below:
Total
Total  contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cash flow  on demand 1-2 years
BRREER
HeRE TEUT
IREAE BE  REEXR 1ZE2F

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TER TET TET

At 31 March 2021 R-ZBZ-5=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B o EMNERRREAM

FEATBR X 13,458 13,458 13,458 -
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 42,135 42,135 42,135 =
Lease liabilities HERE 1,598 1,665 1173 492

57,191 57,258 56,766 492

FEEERRERAR F£15 202021 145
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Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 26. IERAEKMEEEERBEK®)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Confinued) REBELEM (2)
Total
Total  contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cash flow  on demand 1-2 years
BHRIRALER
RERE TFLAT
RE#E Gk FIRE R 1224
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZEZEBF=ZB=+—H
Trade and other payables B o EMNERRREA
A BR X 80,210 80,210 80,210 -
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 15,100 15,518 15,518 -
Amount due to the Ultimate JE T B A4 RR 7 5RIB
Controlling Party 174 174 174 -
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,605 1,697 647 1,050
97,089 97,599 96,549 1,050

The amounts repayable under loan agreement that include a clause that
gives the lenders the unconditional right to call the loan at any time are
classified under the “on demand” bracket. In this regard, interest-bearing
borrowings of HK$42,135,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$15,100,000)
have been so classified even though the directors do not expect that the
lenders would exercise their rights to demand repayment and thus these
borrowings (including the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows)
would be repaid according to the following schedule as set out in the loan

agreement:

EXmZE (BEH TERARTMHE
W E R 2\ Z G E
TZENESESERIEEREE]
—fWe-ptms BEEEVEBEH
BRABITEREREERERCER
MR -_ZE-—F=ZA=+—HZ:TA
B 542,135,000 L (ZE T F:
15,100,000, 70) E &S %A - At - itk
ZEE (BREASEMNERSINREE)
HIRBE R WEEI 2 AT LHEE -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE
Within one year —FNR 23,141 11,568
In the second year RE-F 20,032 3,950
43,173 15,518
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26.

27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
[CONTINUED)

Fair value of financial instruments

In the opinion of management of the Group, the carrying amounts of the
financial assets and liabilities of the Group carried at amounts are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March 2021.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s
stability and growth. The management consider the total equity as
disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position as the Group’s
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns, taking into
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or return capital
to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

26.

27.

e MR R M
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE

R EREBERBEE)

EMTANATE

AEEEREERR AEENZHE
EMABHNRAERER T - —
A=+ —HNAFEITEENER -

BEXREE

AEBEAETENBENARERTE
BENEN UARRREHER LR
HiFmESRK KD  ERFENE
REERB AR K E AR A KM
MIRERER - EEERZRA M BHR
ARPHRENEDAERSAEEDN

REBEGFREAEBENRRERE S
FTEREHENREREERLEHU
REZEBLAEELEBR RO B4
BRABREREE NEBTFAE
MERZAHOKRESRE  BITHRSK
MBRRERER REBEEZT=—%F
M—ZE-_ZTF=ZA=+—HILFE"
EHEBEE BERKEFLEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R RMEE
Year ended 31 March 2021
BE—_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILLFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the statement of financial position of the Company and the
movements in ifs reserves is set out below:

28. AR EFAMREK

BREBEEEATRINBEERTE A2
A1) B T AR 0 R I B s B & 51 4D
™

2021 2020
—E-F —EEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
e FExT FAT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB RRIMNIEE 28l(a) —* —*
Current assefs REEE
Amount due from immediate holding B E #12 & IA
company 28(b) = =*
Amount due from a subsidiary Uk — REI B 8 A B 5RIE 28(b) 103,794 -
Bank balance and cash RITEHR MRS 2,196 -
105,990 —*
Current liability mEEE
Other payable H e FIE 200 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 105,790 —*
Capital ER
Share capital % < 21(a) 16,000 —*
Reserves e 28Ic) 89,790 -
105,790 —*
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * S HN,0008 7T ©

The statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021 was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021 and signed
on its behalf by

Leung Yam Cheung
RIEF
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_T-—F=A=1+—RHLHFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 28. AT MBARRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
28(a)Investment in subsidiaries 28(a) A B Q2 EINIRE
Investment in subsidiaries represents 100% of the issued share F BB A RI#Y 2 & #5 Evergreen
capital of Evergreen, Everbright and Evergrow (as defined in note 29) Everbright X Evergrow £, 2% 17 & 75
together with the par value of the shares issued by the Company #1100% (FE & R 5529) ERAIR
pursuant to the Reorganisation. BEARAFEEITROOER
B e
28(b)Amount due from immediate holding company/ 28b)EREEERAT
a subsidiary — [t |8 A B FKIE
The amounts due are non-frade in nature, unsecured, interest-free ZRERIFBESHIEE - EER -
and repayable on demand. RENBIRENRER -
28(c) Reserves of the Company 28() AR EIREME
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium profits  Total equity

[N &0 B e il RERBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHET
(Note 21)  (Note 22(a))

(HEE21) (B EE22(a)

At 1 April 2019 R-ZZE-—NAFWMA—H - - - -

Profit and total comprehensive A% F| & &

income for the year WSt g - - - -
Transactions with owners HEBEAETHRS
Contributions and distributions ' & }& 5 )k
Issue of shares capital BATRRA —* - - -+
At 31 March 2020 R-TE-_TF=-A
=+—H —* - - _*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

Year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 28. ARNQABIFEAR R T (&)
(CONTINUED)
28(c) Reserves of the Company (Continued) 28(c) A BRI E e (&)
Share Share Accumulated

capital premium profits  Total equity
BRA  BRRE  RAFHER 0 ESAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

TAET

TAET TAET TAET

(Note 21)  (Note 22(a))
(MsE21) (P aE22(a)

At 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZFHA—HA —*

Loss and fotal comprehensive 4 A E518 & 2 T 45

income for the year FEEE] - - (1,275) (1,275)
Transactions with owners EHEBAETHXRS
Confributions and diistributions 11 & R 57/
Issue of shares pursuant to BRI D 2 &
Share Offer BT 4,000 136,000 - 140,000
Issue of shares pursuant fo the 1R & & 71k 34 1T
Capitalisation Issue BITIRGD 12,000 (12,000) - -
Transaction cost aftributable to 21T {7 FE(L
issue of shares R G - (32,935) - (32,935)
16,000 91,065 - 107,065
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=H
=+—H 16,000 91,065 (1,275) 105,790
* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. S5 1,000%8 7T °

There was no movement in reserves of the Company from 31
May 2019 (date of incorporation) to 31 March 2020. The corporate
administrative costs of the Company and the expenses for the Listing
were borne by the subsidiaries of the Company without recharge.
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29. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at end of the reporting period are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

HE—Z

29. B~ E]

Year ended 31 March 2021

T —HF=A=t+—HIEEFE

RBEMRMBABNFITEINAT

Place of
incorporation Equity interests held by
and operations Paid up capital the Company Principal activities
i ih 2 BERA AABFENRE FTEEK
Directly Indirectly
HiE fE

Evergreen Construction The BVI Nil 100% - Investment holding
Development Holding Limited 2B Z & i KEERK
(Evergreen’) ([ Evergreen |)

Everbright Construction The BVI Nil 100% - Investment holding
Engineering Holding Limited HEBER 4B S 3 HEER
(“Everbright”) ([ Everbright ] )

Evergrow Construction The BVI Nil 100% - Investment holding
Equipment Holding Limited ~ HEBEREZ RS s KEERK
(‘Evergrow’) ([ Evergrow )

Temmex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of formwork
("Temmex’) BB 10,000 % 7T works services

REIRARAB(TRED RHER TR

Temmex Brothers Engineering  Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of formwork
Limited (“Temmex Brothers”) &% 10,0007 T works services

REALBIRERAA REER TRERS
(TRERZE]

Kennex Scaffolding System Co., Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Supply of metal scaffold
Limited ("Kennex”) B 10,0007 7T equipment and

BEIBRESABRAQE

(M&hnl)

related parts
HETBBERRER
HESH

RNESEZERAER AR F# 2020/21
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Five-year Financial Summary

=:5)
FEYEEE
Year ended 31 March
BZE=ZA=+—HLFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EBE--F —ZZ2-FF ZT-IEF - N\F —ET—F
HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FE&T FHET FHET FET FET
Result B
Revenue WA 534,280 434,624 505,188 415,323 440,124
Cost of services AR 7% B A< (462,381) (355,377 (416,686) (358,196) (386,419)
Gross profit EF 71,899 79,247 88,502 57,127 53,705
Other income H b A 21,458 261 1,060 6 10
Administrative and other TR EMEE
operating expenses F (17,303) (12,334) (9,807) (7,259 (6,761)
Finance costs B 7% Bl AR (468) (176) (48) (39) (23)
Listing expenses FHRAX (5,679) (18,136) (2,128) - -
Profit before tax BREE A0 % F) 69,907 48,862 77,579 49,835 46,931
Income tax expenses Fris i (9,299) (10,856) (13,103) (8,081) (7,954)
Profit and total comprehensive FREFMREZE
income for the year U =458 60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754 38,977
Attributable to: LI AL :
The owners of the Company ZAN/NSIETF=DN 60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754 38,981
Non-controlling interests FEfE R A - - - - (4)
60,608 38,006 64,476 41,754 38,977
As at 31 March
R=ZA=+—H”
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B -F —Z2-FF ZT-NIEF T N\F —T—tF
HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FE&T FHET FHET FET FET
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets IERBEE 45,827 7,548 10,944 16,569 10,452
Current assets MENEE 383,151 332,023 170,175 146,214 128,174
Total Assets BERE 428,978 339,571 181,119 162,783 138,626
Current liabilities RBEE 96,939 174,677 54,571 63,752 65,184
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 635 1,063 823 1,782 947
Total Liabilities BEMARE 97,574 175,840 55,394 65,534 66,131
Net assets BEFE 331,404 163,731 125,725 97,249 72,495
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